
 
 

 
 
Committee: 
 

PLANNING REGULATORY COMMITTEE 

Date: 
 

MONDAY, 10 OCTOBER 2022 

Venue: 
 

MORECAMBE TOWN HALL 

Time: 10.30 A.M. 
 

A G E N D A 
 
Officers have prepared a report for each of the planning or related applications listed on 
this Agenda.  Copies of all application literature and any representations received are 
available for viewing at the City Council's Public Access website 
http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/publicaccess by searching for the relevant applicant number.   
 
1       Apologies for Absence  
 
2        Minutes   
    
  Minutes of meeting held on 12th September 2022 (previously circulated).    

     
3       Items of Urgent Business authorised by the Chair  
 
4        Declarations of Interest   
     
  To receive declarations by Councillors of interests in respect of items on this Agenda.   

Councillors are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 2011, they are required to 
declare any disclosable pecuniary interests which have not already been declared in the 
Council’s Register of Interests. (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable pecuniary 
interest either in the Register or at the meeting).   

Whilst not a legal requirement, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 9 and in the 
interests of clarity and transparency, Councillors should declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests which they have already declared in the Register, at this point in the meeting.   

In accordance with Part B Section 2 of the Code Of Conduct, Councillors are required to 
declare the existence and nature of any other interests as defined in paragraphs 8(1) or 9(2) 
of the Code of Conduct.   

 

     
Planning Applications for Decision   
 

 Community Safety Implications 

In preparing the reports for this agenda, regard has been paid to the implications of the 
proposed developments on community safety issues.  Where it is considered that the 
proposed development has particular implications for community safety, the issue is fully 
considered within the main body of the individual planning application report. The weight 
attributed to this is a matter for the decision-taker.   

http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/publicaccess


 

Local Finance Considerations 

Section 143 of the Localism Act requires the local planning authority to have regard to local 
finance considerations when determining planning applications. Local finance considerations 
are defined as a grant or other financial assistance that has been provided; will be provided; 
or could be provided to a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown (such as New Homes 
Bonus payments), or sums that a relevant authority has, will or could receive in payment of 
the Community Infrastructure Levy.  Whether a local finance consideration is material to the 
planning decision will depend upon whether it could help to make development acceptable in 
planning terms, and where necessary these issues are fully considered within the main body 
of the individual planning application report.  The weight attributed to this is a matter for the 
decision-taker.   

Human Rights Act 

Planning application recommendations have been reached after consideration of The Human 
Rights Act.  Unless otherwise explicitly stated in the report, the issues arising do not appear to 
be of such magnitude to override the responsibility of the City Council to regulate land use for 
the benefit of the community as a whole, in accordance with national law.  

  
  

5       A5 22/00342/FUL Land At Grid Reference E347900 
N455890, Highland Brow, Galgate, 
Lancashire 

Ellel Ward (Pages 4 - 
32) 

     
  Erection of 115 dwellings with 

associated access and landscaping. 
  

     
     
6       A6 22/00897/FUL Car Park, Victoria Terrace, 

Glasson Dock, Lancashire 
Ellel Ward (Pages 33 - 

38) 
     
  Retrospective application for the 

erection of 2m fencing to roadside 
boundary with pedestrian access 
gate, a vehicular access barrier and 
the installation of 2 electric vehicle 
charging points. 
 

  

7       A7 22/01054/FUL 73 Bowland Road, Heysham, LA3 
2EW 

Heysham 
Central 
Ward 

(Pages 39 - 
41) 

  Demolition of existing 
outbuildings/stores, erection of a 
part single, part two storey rear/side 
extension and construction of 
external ramp access. 

  

     
      
8       Delegated List (Pages 42 - 53) 
 
 

https://planning.lancaster.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=R8SMMCIZGIF00
https://planning.lancaster.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=RF2BH1IZI5S00
https://planning.lancaster.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=RGT84BIZ02F00


 

ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS 
 
(i) Membership 

 
 Councillors Sandra Thornberry (Chair), Keith Budden (Vice-Chair), Mandy Bannon, 

Victoria Boyd-Power, Dave Brookes, Abbott Bryning, Roger Cleet, Roger Dennison, 
Kevin Frea, June Greenwell, Mel Guilding, Mandy King, Jack Lenox, Robert Redfern and 
Malcolm Thomas 
 

(ii) Substitute Membership 
 

 Councillors Alan Biddulph (Substitute), Jake Goodwin (Substitute), Tim Hamilton-Cox 
(Substitute), Colin Hartley (Substitute), Debbie Jenkins (Substitute), Geoff Knight 
(Substitute), Sally Maddocks (Substitute), Joyce Pritchard (Substitute) and Peter Yates 
(Substitute) 
 

(iii) Queries regarding this Agenda 
 

 Please contact Eric Marsden - Democratic Services: email emarsden@lancaster.gov.uk. 
 

(iv) Changes to Membership, substitutions or apologies 
 

 Please contact Democratic Support, telephone 582170, or alternatively email 
democracy@lancaster.gov.uk.  
 
 

 
MARK DAVIES, 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE, 
TOWN HALL, 
DALTON SQUARE, 
LANCASTER, LA1 1PJ 
 
Published on 27th September 2022.   

 

mailto:democraticsupport@lancaster.gov.uk


 

Page 1 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

 
 

Agenda Item A5 

Application Number 22/00342/FUL 

Proposal Erection of 115 dwellings with associated access and landscaping 

Application site 

Land At Grid Reference E347900 N455890 

Highland Brow 

Galgate 

Lancashire 

Applicant Wainhomes (North West) Limited 

Agent Mr Stephen Harris 

Case Officer Mrs Eleanor Fawcett 

Departure No 

Summary of Recommendation 

 

Refusal 

 

 
1.0 Application Site and Setting  

 
1.1 The site is located on agricultural land to the north of the existing residential development on 

Meadow Park, which is at the northern edge of the large village of Galgate. It lies to the west of 
Highland Brow and to the east of the Lancaster Canal. There is a belt of mature trees along the 
western boundary, adjacent to the canal, which continues to the north and south of the of the site 
boundaries. The site has an area of approximately 4.8 hectares and mostly comprises two fields, 
which are separated by and bound by hedgerows to the north and east boundary. However, the site 
also extends slightly into the field to the north, beyond part of the existing hedgerow, and includes a 
pond which straddles two fields. The land rises significantly towards the northeast corner, and forms 
part of the slope of a drumlim feature. This and the adjacent agricultural land appear to have been 
most recently used for growing maize. 
 

1.2 A small part of the site along the western edge is located within flood zones 2 and 3. There is also a 
watercourse in this location, Ou Beck, which is a Main River. This part of the site is also identified as 
being at risk from surface water flooding. The site is identified as being susceptible to groundwater 
flooding (50-75%) and just under half of the site is indicated as a mineral safeguarding area. The 
Galgate Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) is located approximately 600 metres to the 
southeast. The site is also located approximately 1.7 kilometres from the Lune Estuary Site of 
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), which is also covered by the Morecambe Bay Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC), Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar Site. 

 
2.0 Proposal 

 
2.1 Planning permission is sought for the erection of 115 dwellings and includes the creation of an 

access from Highland Brow towards the southeast corner of the site. The proposed dwellings and 
associated gardens would be concentrated at the west of the site on the lower areas of land, with a 
row of dwellings along the southern boundary, extending up to Highland Brow. The dwellings would 
be arranged around a long, mostly straight road extending across the width of the site, with three cul-

Page 4Agenda Item 5



 

Page 2 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

de-sacs off this to the north. Most of the eastern portion of the site, which is the highest part, is 
proposed to remain mostly undeveloped and provide the open space for the development. 
 

2.2 The proposed dwellings are a mix of detached, semi-detached and terraced, and are all two storey, 
although one house type has a higher roof height with accommodation in the roof space. Amended 
plans were received during the course of the application as the originally submitted house types did 
not fully correspond to the proposed site plan. There are mixture of two, three and four bedroom 
units and the submission sets out that 35 affordable units would be provided, which equates to 30% 
on-site provision, although there is limited detail in relation to this. The proposed external finishes to 
the buildings are also unclear within the submitted documents. 

 
3.0 Site History 

 
3.1 The only relevant application relating to this site is a screening opinion which was carried out when 

the application was submitted. 
 

Application Number Proposal Decision 

22/00714/EIR Screening opinion for erection of 115 dwellings with 
associated access and landscaping 

Not EIA development 

 
4.0 Consultation Responses 

 
4.1 The following responses have been received from statutory and internal consultees: 
 

Consultee Response 

Ellel Parish Council Object for the following reasons: 

 Flooding: The fields are known to be wet, and flooding occurs every year in 
normal weather conditions 

 Sewage: Capacity of the existing sewerage system 

 Traffic Flows/Issues: Salford Road is narrow and has speeding and parking 
issues, with restrictions from the viaduct arch and the effect of increased traffic 
has not been addressed; there are safety issues at the junction with Highland 
Brow given the location on a hill and the speed of vehicles towards Galgate; it 
appears that nothing has been done to accommodate trips generated to the 
north on Highland Brow at two sub-standard junctions with the A6 (Five Ashes 
Lane and Burrow Road). 

Planning Policy Comments. The site is within the extensive area of the broad location for growth 
designated by the adopted Local Plan the Local Plan but there are no land allocations 
for development within this area. “Early delivery” of development in South Lancaster 
in advance of the Aera Action Plan (AAP) may be acceptable where compliance with 
the criteria set out in the policy is convincingly demonstrated. There are significant 
concerns that the following growth principles in policy SG1 have not been adequately 
addressed:  

 Involving local communities in pro-active consultation; 

 Securing high-quality urban design which promotes sustainable, attractive 
places to live; 

 Seeking modal shift in local transport movements; 

 The creation of sufficient areas of high-quality open spaces to provide a 
distinct sense of place and deliver a network of green corridors and walking 
and cycling routes across South Lancaster; 

 Taking proper account of the need to design new development to minimise its 
contribution to, and the impacts of, Climate Change; 

 Managing water and run-off to safeguard development, with active measures 
within new development to reduce flood risk downstream; 

 Addressing longstanding constraints and capacity issues in the strategic and 
local road network through improvements to traffic management and physical 
interventions to increase network capacity and advantage sustainable travel. 

 

Page 5



 

Page 3 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

The application does not include information with regard to the house types proposed 
for the affordable units or the tenure mix. Further information is required from the 
applicant to determine whether the proposed provision meets the identified need. 
Concerns that not all the dwellings meet the Nationally Described Space Standards 
(NDSS). Opportunities to support habitat enhancement and deliver biodiversity net 
gain are currently being investigated. The early loss of this site to development 
negates the ability of the Council to undertake this work and again prejudges 
decisions that have yet to be made. 
 

Arboricultural Officer Object due to the potential impact on important boundary trees and hedgerow and 
limited additional planting. There is a contradiction between the AIA and the 
landscape plan, with the landscape plan showing the retention of the northern 
boundary, hedgerow trees and much of the central hedgerow. Internal planting is 
currently limited to street trees, which appear to be planted within the small green 
spaces to the front of properties and no tree planting is shown along western 
boundary, which is important habitat and must be enhanced. There are conflicts with 
root protection areas which may put pressure on the removal of trees once the 
development is occupied.  
 

Engineering Team No comments received. 
 

Waste and Recycling Comments. A revision of the layout is required to reduce the length of shared 
driveways and distance occupants need to move bins for collection and provide 
shared collection points at the end of shred driveways. 
 

Public Realm Comments. 2284.1m2 of amenity space is required on site which should be a mown 
informal space where young children could have a kick about. An equipped play area 
and young person provisions is required on site. Off-site contributions are required 
towards playing pitches (£138,514.35) and parks and gardens (£39,156). 

Economic 
Development 

Comments. The Employment Skills Plan (ESP) offers a positive commitment to the 
objectives of this policy but requires some revision. 

Environmental Health Air Quality – Comments Given the contributory air quality impacts on both the 
Galgate and Lancaster AQMAs, would expect to see a high level of mitigation. In 
addition to EV charging infrastructure for each dwelling, recommend the following be 
sought to facilitate the use of low emission approaches: 

 Operation of a low emissions car club at the development site; 

 Provision of facilities and infrastructure to promote cycling and walking. 

 Measures to promote the use of public transport e.g. free bus use for future 
development occupiers. 

 Any other measures to reduce polluting emissions, particularly associated with 
transport. 

 provision of a condition requiring a CEMP detailing method and measures to 
reduce emissions during the construction phase, including potentially the use 
of low emission NRMM and setting out clearly a complaints/monitoring 
response procedure. 
 

Noise and Vibration – No comments have been received. 
Contaminated land – No comments have been received. 
 

County Highways Object. The development is currently unacceptable in terms of the site access and 
internal layout, impact on the wider highway network and sustainable travel. In 
particular: 

 A number of plots have insufficient parking provision;  

 A 2 metre wide footway should be provided along the site’s frontage with 
Highland Brow; 

 the internal road is not designed to adoptable standards; 

 The trip rates used with the submitted Transport Assessment are not 
acceptable; 

 The A6 Main Road / Salford Road / Stoney Lane signal-controlled junction 
currently has capacity issues at peak times and experiences high levels of 

Page 6



 

Page 4 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

congestion and the proposed increase in vehicle movements is therefore 
unacceptable. Parking on Salford Road also currently impacts on the operation 
of the junction; 

 There is a lack of a suitable footway from the junction of Salford Road and 
Highland Brow to the junction of Salford Road and the A6 to access local 
facilities. Sections of the existing footway provision are less than 1m in width, 
therefore not suitable to support all footway users. 

 Suitable cycle storage needs to be provided for all dwellings  
 

Lead Local Flood 
Authority 

Object, for the following reasons: 

 The submitted site-specific flood risk assessment fails to fully assess the risk 
of surface water flooding to the site as there is known to have been a 
significant issue historically on the site, resulting in the creation of a flood 
embankment/drain (identified as a culvert by the applicant) to protect the 
adjacent properties on Meadow Park; 

 The proposal fails to locate the most vulnerable development in the areas of 
lowest risk; 

 The submission fails to demonstrate that the proposal will not result in a flood 
risk within or outside the site. A large area at low to high risk of surface water 
flooding exists on the site and it has not been assessed how displacement of 
this flood risk may increase flood risk both on and off-site, or how this flood risk 
will be mitigated post-development; and 

 The submission does not demonstrate that residual risks can be safely 
manged, specifically a surface water attenuation pond and tank is proposed 
upslope of the majority of the development. 

County Planning 
Policy 

No comments received. 
 
 

County School 
Planning Team 

Object on lack of infrastructure provision grounds. The Local Plan specifies that 
education mitigation should be provided through the provision of primary and 
secondary school site on the Lancaster South broad location for growth. As planning 
applications have been submitted prior to Area Action Plan adoption there needs to be 
a clear position on school land provision. There is currently no detail provided in any 
application regarding how either school site will be secured and provided. Without 
confirmation of the mechanism for the provision of the required school land it is not 
clear that this development is sustainable. Also request contributions for 26 primary 
school places and 13 secondary school places. 
 

Public Rights of Way No comments received 
 

National Highways Holding objection. Recommend that the application is not determined until at least 
29 November 2022. There is in-sufficient information with the application to enable 
National Highways to form a final view on the proposal. In particular, the Transport 
Assessment does not provide details on the existing situation or collision data in 
relation to the Strategic Road Network, namely Junction 33 of the M6 or the future 
traffic flows. 
 

Greater Manchester 
Ecology Unit 

Comments. The site is within 1.8 km of the Morecambe Bay and Duddon Estuary 
Special Protection Area (SPA) and the Morecambe Bay Special Area of Conservation 
(SAC). It is not considered that the site acts as functionally linked to the protected 
sites. The public open space may help to reduce the need for outdoor recreation away 
from the development but it is also recommend that new residents be provided with 
information about the importance of the coastline for birds, and the need to avoid 
disturbing birds on visits to the coastline. There is indirect hydrological connectivity 
between the site and the Bay, but there are well-established mitigation measures 
which could be employed to avoid any water pollution impacts. Recommend that a 
Construction Environmental Method Statement is required and include details of 
measures to be taken to avoid pollution of the Ou Brook and the Canal. Providing 
mitigation measures are delivered, it is considered that the development will not result 
in harmful impacts on the protected sites. In addition, the following measures are also 

Page 7



 

Page 5 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

recommended to avoid harm to ecological interests, or to mitigate harm; 

 The preparation of a Method Statement giving details of measures to be taken 
to protect Amphibians and Reptiles  

 Preparation of a long-term Landscape and Ecology Management Plan  
However, there are errors in the submitted documents and would object to the 
removal of hedgerow 17H as it would provide a corridor for the movement of 
amphibians and reptiles, as well as other wildlife. 
 

Natural England Object. Further information is required as currently there is insufficient information 
provided in the application to determine whether the likelihood of significant effects to 
the designated sites can be ruled out: 
A Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) which includes: 
• Further consideration of water quality impacts 
• An assessment of the increase in recreational disturbance on the above designated 
sites 

RSPB Object. Potential effect on the Morecambe Bay and Duddon Estuary Special 
Protection Area (SPA), Morecambe Bay Special Area of Conservation (SAC), 
Morecambe Bay Ramsar site and Lune Estuary Site of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI) particularly via potential pollution of Ou beck or species displacement. The 
adjacent canal is also a biological heritage site which requires protection. There is a 
variety of wildlife notably lapwing, that nest on this field each year. Lapwing are 
ground nesting birds and are easily disturbed. Other species have also been noted 
including curlew (also red listed), kestrel, heron, peregrine falcon, kingfisher, skylarks, 
sparrow hawks and owls. The reduction in the planned green area of Bailrigg Garden 
Village by this development will leave smaller and smaller amounts of land for them. 
Due to the presence of bats each tree that is intended to be felled needs to be 
surveyed to ensure this is not used as a bat roost. Also raise concerns about: surface 
water drainage; measures to address impacts from climate change; garden sizes; lack 
of sustainable transport; biodiversity enhancements; need to reduce impermeable 
surfaces; provision of a green corridor; protection to pond and protection of water 
ways during construction. 

Lancashire Wildlife 
Trust 

Comments. Ask to consider impacts on bats, loss of flood plain, removal of migratory 
route to a pond, impact on nesting lapwings and owls, which has been raised by a 
local resident. 

Environment Agency Object, in the absence of an acceptable flood risk assessment. 

NHS No objection subject to a financial contribution of £81,771 towards new infrastructure 
at Lancaster Medical Practice. 

Galgate Flood Action 
Group 

No comments received 

South Lancaster 
Flood Action Group 

No comments received 

United Utilities Comments. whilst the proposals are acceptable in principle, there is insufficient 
information on the detail of the drainage design. Request condition in relation to a 
sustainable drainage scheme. 

Lancashire Fire and 
Rescue 

No comments received 

Network Rail Comments. Request a condition requiring: details of surface and foul water drainage, 
directed away from the railway. Advise that the council and developer determine the 
most appropriate measures to mitigate noise and vibration from the existing 
operational railway to ensure that there will be no future issues for residents once they 
take up occupation of the dwellings. 

Lancaster Canal 
Trust 

No comments received 

Canal and River Trust Comments. Ask the Council to seek amendments to increase the landscape planting 
along the canal boundary with native species and provide a knee high timber fence or 
similar along the edge of the access road. Also request conditions requiring: an 
assessment of the culvert to confirm that it has adequate capacity and to identify 
whether there is any need for improvements to facilitate increased flows; and a 
Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) to protect the canal and Ou 
Beck from pollution/ run-off during construction. 

Page 8



 

Page 6 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

Dynamo Cycle 
Campaign 

Object: There is no provision for cycle infrastructure between the development and 
Galgate or Lancaster which is unsustainable and dangerous; and the land is not one 
of the Housing Delivery Sites. 

 
4.2 The following responses have been received from members of the public in relation to the original 

consultation: 398 representations opposing the development (1 comment from Cat Smith MP, 2 
comments from Councillors and 1 comment from CLOUD). A summary of the main reasons is as 
follows: 
 

 Flood risk: the development land is in a flood zone and has history of flooding; area has 
poor drainage/sewers, regular surface water flooding and current flood defences cannot 
cope; more houses will exacerbate this further with increased flood risk; Soakaways are not 
sufficient;  impact on the existing flood wall from proposed footpath onto Meadow Park; the 
present culvert under the canal on Leachfield Road will not be able to cope with extra water 
in Ou Beck and the culvert is currently kept clear by the work of 2 households 

 Highway Impacts: Poor transport links, lack of accessibility on the roads, roads unsuitable 
for HGV’s; lack of public transport means more cars on the road, buses are full for secondary 
school children; Salford Road cannot cope with more traffic; traffic already backs up from 
Pointer Roundabout; village traffic will increase and add to the existing traffic jams and 
hazards; proposed development junction is dangerous because the road is narrow with a 
blind summit and many drivers use the road to avoid the main road traffic; risk to pedestrians 
and cyclists due to narrow pavements and narrow bridge on Salford Road where cars already 
mount to park on them causing obstructions, the cycle lane on A6 is obstructed by parked 
cars; lack of parking causes cars to park on the neighbouring roads, parked cars obstruct the 
highway and restrict the width and cause a hazard and impact access for large emergency 
vehicles; Conder Green Lane is a single track road and is not suitable for increased traffic 
flow or HGV’s; Highland Brow is restrictive to vehicles due to the road layout and the bridge 
width and unsuitable for HGV’s; the Transport Assessment doesn’t corroborate with the 
resident’s current experiences 

 Residential amenity: existing properties will lose views, lose privacy and be overlooked; 
increased stress, mental and physical health problems to local residents due to loss of green 
space. 

 Design and visual Impact: The ‘Landscape and Visual Appraisal’ does not consider views 
from the western half of the public road (Meadow Park) which will be blocked by the 
development; loss of countryside and natural beauty; poor construction and materials 
compared to existing houses; the proposed two story houses are not in keeping with the area 
and are too close to the existing bungalows/dormer bungalows on Meadow Park; affordable 
housing is all concentrated in one area and not spread out; over development; negative 
impact on the unspoilt section of the Lancaster Canal corridor 

 Policy: Application fails to support pars 7 and 17 of the National Planning Policy Framework; 
The land is identified as a ‘green buffer’ and intended to be kept free from development to act 
as a separation between Galgate and Bailrigg Garden Village; incompatible with stated 
planning objectives and contradicts the Bailrigg Green village process and contrary to the 
land allocation. 

 Impacts on ecology: Poor consideration of biodiversity; site is a migratory path for wildlife and 
loss of this will be particularly disruptive to the transient otters, bats, protected owls, 
woodpeckers, lapwing and great crested newts and red list species; loss of hedgerows and 
trees 

 Impact on existing infrastructure; the local primary school is full, GP practice is stretched 
to capacity and current residents struggle to get appointments, Dentist practices are full, and 
Church (including graveyard) do not have the capacity to support another development; 
strain on utilities. 

 Increased pollution: poor air quality from more vehicles, potentially causing respiratory 
health problems for residents; noise disruption; poor construction practices in vicinity of 
permeable surfaces, including management of soils and materials leading to silt/sediment 
contaminating the permeable surface  

 Heritage: area has Roman and Saxon connections 

 Need: Population has increased significantly in the last few years due to approx. 460 
additional dwellings being built; Galgate is already overpopulated, there is no secure 
indication that the population of Lancaster is significantly increasing; no requirement for new 

Page 9



 

Page 7 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

large houses in this area; only 30% affordable housing offered; limited shops in the village 

 Railway Infrastructure: increase the risk of interruption to the rail network due to damage to 
the rail infrastructure, i.e. damage to rail bridges 

 Loss of boundary: Galgate will become an extended part of Lancaster and erode existing 
quiet village 

 Lack of public engagement from developer 

 Loss of agricultural land to grow crops 

 Carbon Capture will be reduced from the loss of green space 

 Building the houses so close to the existing children’s play park is dangerous 

 Impact on house prices 
 
Cat Smith MP:  

 Development would see housing built on land that regularly floods 

 Sewer network on Meadow Park is over-taxed and struggles with high levels of discharge 

 Existing serious safety issues along Highland Brow and Salford Road, the proposed T-
Junction will worsen the problem 

 More traffic congestion during construction period and speeding down Salford Road, 
concerns of the access via Salford Road; 

 Removal of the ‘green buffer’ between Galgate and housing built in South Lancaster. 
 

County Councillor M Maxwell-Scott 

 Additional flood risk 

 Negative impact on local traffic  
 
Councillor Richard Austen-Baker 

 Application runs contrary to the adopted Local Plan 

 Increased flood risk 

 Hinders the proper development of the proposed Bailrigg Garden Village 

 Traffic problems in already existing pinch points 
 

Comments from CLOUD 

 Flood risk 

 Removal of ‘buffer zone’ 

 Impact of construction traffic and future residents traffic 

 Impact on biodiversity 

 Pressure on health care service and schools 

 Pressure of drainage and sewage 

 Concerns over maintenance of the Sustainable Drainage System (SuDS) once developers 
leave the development site 

 Poor consideration of ecology, biodiversity and placemaking principles in design 

 Poor construction practices in vicinity of permeable surfaces, including management of soils 
and materials leading to silt/sediment/granular material contaminating the permeable surface- 
this includes over-filling soil beds 

 Poor landscaping design/detailing, resulting in un-sealed slopes draining downhill towards 
permeable surfaces, leading to silt/sediment contamination which reduces performance 

 Lack of proactive maintenance of permeable surfaces, leading to silting/vegetation growth 
reducing performance 

 
There were 19 petition leaflets completed with the following comments: 

 Increase in flood risk 

 Increased pressure on sewers and drainage 

 Increase in traffic; more traffic jams, more hazard for pedestrians and cyclists 

 Loss of ‘green buffer’ 

 Loss of biodiversity, wildlife habitats and rare species 

 Pressure on already struggling infrastructure; no spaces at local schools, doctors surgery 

 Concerns of construction traffic damaging the train bridge 

 Loss of village identity  

 No employment opportunities so more people will drive 

 Not enough car parking for current residents, currently lots of parking on pavements which 

Page 10



 

Page 8 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

will increase further 

 Transports routes are limited for construction traffic 

 Impact on resident’s mental health from the loss of green space 

 Visual amenity lost for countryside, walking, cycling and horse-riding 

 Development land is known for flooding 

 New development is too close to existing properties 

 Proposed development access will be a dangerous junction 
 
An amended site plan and house types were submitted as the originally submitted house types did 
not fully correspond to the layout plan. As such, further consultation was undertaken. An additional 
13 responses objecting to the application were received which raised similar concerns to those set 
out above in addition to those below: 
 

 Contradicts the Council’s climate emergency statement 
 
5.0 Analysis 

 
5.1 The key considerations in the assessment of this application are: 

 

 Principle of development 

 Traffic impacts, access, parking and sustainable travel 

 Flood risk and drainage 

 Layout, design and landscape impacts 

 Impacts on residential amenity 

 Biodiversity 

 Affordable Housing and mix 

 Air Quality 

 Education and Health 

 Climate Change 

 Mineral Safeguarding 
 

5.2 Principle of Development NPPF paragraphs: 7 – 12 (Achieving Sustainable Development), and 60-
61 and 73-79 (Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes); Strategic Policies and Land Allocations 
(SPLA) DPD policies SP1 (Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development), SP2 (Lancaster 
District Settlement Hierarchy), SP3 (Development Strategy for Lancaster District), SP6 (The Delivery 
of New Homes); SG1 (Lancaster South Broad Location for Growth), SG3 (Infrastructure Delivery for 
Growth in South Lancaster) EN3 (The Open Countryside; Development Management (DM) DPD 
policies: DM1 (New Residential Development and Meeting Housing Needs) and DM4 (Residential 
Development Outside Main Urban Areas) 
 

5.2.1 The site is located adjacent to the built up area of the village of Galgate, on its northern edge, and 
currently comprises agricultural land. Galgate is identified within policy SP2 of the SPLA DPD as a 
Sustainable Rural Settlement where growth will be focussed outside the main urban areas. Policy 
SP3 sets out that, in general, the scale of planned housing growth in rural areas will be managed to 
reflect existing population size, be proportionate to existing scale and character of the settlement and 
the availability of, or the opportunity to provide, infrastructure, services and facilities to serve the 
development and the extent to which development can be accommodated within the local area. 
However, the site is also located within the Lancaster South Broad Location for Growth (including 
Bailrigg Garden Village), covered by Policy SG1 of the SPLA DPD. 
 

5.2.2 Policy SG1 is a designation of land, which promotes the strategic delivery of sustainable housing 
and employment growth in South Lancaster.  The purpose of policy SG1 is to deliver a self-
contained Garden Village, which focuses on high quality development that carefully balances 
housing and employment requirements, whilst maintaining strong and embedded environmental and 
high-quality design objectives.  However, it is important to note that the policy makes no formal 
allocations for development, and merely designates this area for further investigation through the 
preparation of an Area Action Plan (AAP) DPD for the South Lancaster Area. Instead, it sets out a 
series of Key Growth Principles for development within this designated land. The AAP is currently 
being prepared by the City Council and is at an early stage, with adoption not expected until 2024. 
When adopted, it will identify allocations for both development and non-development purposes and 

Page 11



 

Page 9 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

will set out detailed policies to guide development in this area. In advance of this, a Vision 
Masterplan has been prepared by external consultants and has been through several stages of 
community engagement and was reported to the Council’s Cabinet on 6th February 2022 who  
endorsed this as the basis for the council’s planning of the Garden Village. 
 

5.2.3 There are 15 Key Growth Principles set out in policy SG1.  A summary of these principles is set out 
below: 

1. Pro-active community engagement. 
2. Securing high-quality design and development with a sense of place. 
3. Seeking modal shift away from traditional forms of private car usage (public transport and 

cycle infrastructure). 
4. Delivering market and affordable housing to meet evidenced housing needs and to secure 

cohesive and balanced communities. 
5. Ensuring necessary infrastructure is delivered to support the strategic growth of South 

Lancaster. 
6. The delivery of high-quality open space and green corridors and securing distinct areas of 

separation between the BGV and the existing urban edge of Lancaster and Galgate. 
7. Development to take account of the Heritage Impact Assessment for the area. 
8. Safe, accessible and well-serviced development to create healthy and cohesive communities. 
9. Master planning for growth of the University Campus and its wider estate. 
10. Safeguarding the University Campus. 
11. Design new development to minimise its contribution to, and the impacts of, climate change 

and to be resilient and adaptable to the effects of climate change.  
12. Managing and reducing surface water and flood risk to existing and new residents and 

businesses.  
13. Housebuilders to provide opportunities to work alongside local firms/suppliers during 

construction and opportunities for self/custom build properties. 
14. Promotion of innovative design and use of technology for buildings, transport and energy. 
15. Improvements to traffic management and physical interventions to increase network capacity 

and advantage sustainable travel. 
 

5.2.4 The policy goes on to say that development within the broad location of growth will be supported in 
advance of the AAP assuming the following criteria can be met: 
 

1. There would be no prejudice to the delivery of the wider garden village (including its 
infrastructure requirements) and would not undermine the integrated and co-ordinated 
approach to the wider development;  

2. The development would conform with and further the Key Growth Principles described in 
SG1; and 

3. That the opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been fully considered and that 
the residual impacts on the transport network will not be severe. 

 
5.2.5 The supporting text to policy SG1 is clear that the Council would only permit development within this 

area ahead of the AAP in exceptional circumstances. Given this it is critical that any application in 
this area can demonstrate, beyond any doubt, that these exceptional circumstances have been met 
in full. This is particularly the case in relation to ensuring that infrastructure matters, as set out in 
Policy SG3 of the SPLA and the key growth principles are fully considered and addressed to the 
satisfaction of the LPA. Whilst the AAP is at an early stage of preparation, Policy SG1 makes clear 
the ambitions of the Council with regard to development within the ‘Broad Location for Growth’ 
designation that it is seeking to achieve sustainable, high-quality development which is distinctly 
unique and separate to the surrounding settlements of Lancaster, Galgate and Bailrigg Village. 
Given the siting of this proposal, there are potential implications of achieving such separation should 
development be permitted in this location. 
 

5.2.6 
 

Most of the matters set out within the Key Growth Principles will be considered in detail in the 
separate sections below. However, there are concerns that a number of these principles have not 
been adequately addressed, in particularly relation to: involving communities; high quality design; 
seeking a modal shift; high quality open spaces and walking and cycling routes; minimising impacts 
on climate change; managing water and flood risk; and addressing constraints and capacity issues in 
the strategic and local road network. The principle of the development cannot therefore be supported 
as the proposal would be contrary to the aims and objectives of Policies SG1 and SG3 with regards 

Page 12



 

Page 10 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

to the expectations of new housing development in this area in addition.  

 
5.2.7 Regarding the principle of developing this site for housing, the loss of the agricultural land is also a 

consideration. The NPPF places support for maintaining agricultural land under Paragraph 174 and 
within footnote 58. The best and most versatile land is defined as Grades 1, 2 and 3a. Policy DM44 
sets out that development should avoid use of the best and most versatile agricultural land and 
should, as far as possible, use the lowest grade of land suitable. The maps available from natural 
England identify the land as Grade 3 but do not distinguish between 3a and 3b. They are just a guide 
and do not provide detailed site specific assessments. As the land is currently used to grow crops, it 
is considered that a more detailed analysis is required of the land. At present, it is not clear if the 
proposal would result in the loss of the best and most versatile land so is a potential disbenefit of the 
development. 
 

5.2.8 It is acknowledged that the Council cannot currently demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable 
housing sites and this can only be addressed by the approval of more residential proposals and the 
identification of further supply through the Land Allocations process. The most up to date housing 
land supply position for the council is contained within the 2021 Housing Land Supply Statement 
(September 2021) which identifies a 2.6-year supply of housing land. The council’s lack of a five-
year housing land supply is a material consideration in the determination of this application and also 
requires the application of the presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in 
paragraph 11 of the NPPF. This means applying a tilted balance in favour of proposals for housing 
development and granting permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. As this requires consideration off all the impacts of the 
development, this will be fully considered within the conclusion. 
 

5.3 Traffic impacts, access, parking and sustainable travel NPPF paragraphs: 104-106 and 110-113 
(Promoting Sustainable Transport); Strategic Policies and Land Allocations (SPLA) DPD policies:  
SP10 (Improving Transport Connectivity), SG1 (Lancaster South Broad Location for Growth), SG3 
(Infrastructure Delivery for Growth in South Lancaster) and T2 (Cycling and Walking Network); 
Development Management (DM) DPD policies DM29 (Key Design Principles), DM57 (Health and 
Well-being), DM58 (Infrastructure Delivery and Funding, DM60 (Enhancing Accessibility and 
Transport Linkages), DM61 (Walking and Cycling), DM62 (Vehicle Parking Provision), DM63 
(Transport Efficiency and Travel Plans), and DM64 (Lancaster District Highways and Transport 
Masterplan) 
 

5.3.1 The Local Plan transport and accessibility policies seek to direct new development to sustainable 
locations and to ensure new development provides and encourages opportunities for a range of 
transport options and to reduce the overall need to travel.  Policy requires development to make 
positive contributions to the walking and cycle network. As discussed above, Policy SG1 sets out a 
number of growth principles for the Broad Location for Growth which includes seeking a modal shift 
away from traditional forms of private car usage and addressing longstanding constraints and 
capacity issues in the strategic and local road network. Policy SG3 also sets out the requirement for 
necessary strategic infrastructure in order to deliver growth in South Lancaster, including highway 
infrastructure. It sets out that the Council will not permit piecemeal development that does not seek 
to address matters of strategic importance.  Policy DM60 requires development proposals to be 
accessed safely during construction and operational phases of development.  It equally requires 
development proposals to not adversely impact the local highway network and where highway 
capacity is insufficient to accommodate the impacts of the proposal, to secure appropriate mitigation.  
This aligns with paragraphs 110 of the NPPF.  In accordance with paragraph 111 of the NPPF, 
development should only be refused on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact 
on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 
 

5.3.2 The site is proposed to be accessed off Highland Brow which links to the A6, via Salford Road 
approximately 600 metres to the south east, and continues to the north past the site. Lancashire 
County Council as the Highway Authority have raised a number of concerns regarding the proposed 
development. Firstly, in relation to the site access and internal layout of the scheme, there are 
concerns regarding the design of the junction to Highland Brow. The Highway Authority have 
advised that, to protect the sightlines for the proposed access and to support sustainable travel, a 2 
metre wide footway should be provided along the site's full frontage with Highland Brow. A footway 
has been shown to the south, but would not extend beyond the access point to the north. It is 
acknowledged that it would not link to any other development to the north, and people are likely to 

Page 13



 

Page 11 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

walk to services within the village, to the south. However, there is a public right of way on the 
opposite side of Highland Brow and by extending the footway slightly to the north would improve 
connectivity. Visibility splays have been identified on the plans measuring 2.4 metres by 90 metres, 
although these have been measured to a point 1 metre into the carriageway to the south. The 
Highway Authority have raised no concerns regarding the proposed visibility at the junction. The 
speed of the road is restricted to 30 mph to the front of most of the site, changing to 20 mph towards 
its southern end. It is not considered that a footway would be required to the whole of the north of the 
access to protect visibility splays. The submission appears to show the hedgerow set back or 
replanted with a verge to the front which would allow visibility to be maintained. 
 

5.3.3 The Highway Authority have advised that the proposed internal road is not designed to an adoptable 
standard. In particular, they have set out that for a road to be considered for adoption, Lancashire 
County Council request that it should be at least 5.5 metres in width with a 2 metre footpath on both 
sides. The plans do seem to indicate that this would be provided throughout the majority of the 
scheme, with the exception of the western edge of the site and some of the ends of cul-de-sacs. As 
such, some clarification regarding this has been sought from County Highways. However, whilst it is 
desirable that the layout is designed to adoptable standards, it just needs to be ensured that the 
layout is safe, and there does appear to be sufficient space for turning within the site. It is noted tat 
the plan showing the new junction with Highland Brow does not appear to be scaling correctly, 
although the annotation and the larger site plan do appear to show a 5.5 metre width and 2 metre 
footway.  
 

5.3.4 The Highway Authority have also advised that a number of plots have insufficient parking provision 
and two to three bedroom properties should have two spaces and four to five bedroom properties 
should have three spaces. The minimum dimension for a parking bay needs to be 2.4m wide by 
4.8m long. In addition, a private drive requires a minimum width of 3.2m where they are used for 
vehicular access and pedestrian access to the property and it is recommended that all private drives 
fronting garages should be a minimum of 6 metres long, reduced to 5.5 metres if roller shutters are 
fitted. The recommended minimum internal single garage size is 6 metres by 3 metres to be counted 
as a parking space. Having reviewed the plans, the integral garages appear to comply with the sizes 
set out above, as do the detached garages. The space sizes do appear to comply with the relevant 
standards and would provide sufficient parking, although some of the groups of parking bays may 
have slightly restricted turning. Some clarification has also been sought on this matter to ascertain if 
there are particular elements of the scheme where there are concerns. 
 

5.3.5 In relation to the impact on surrounding highway network, the Highway Authority have raised 
concerns regarding the trip rates used in the submitted Transport Assessment and have advised that 
these are not acceptable. The Transport Assessment provides a table (8.2) regarding the A6/ Salford 
Road/ Stoney Lane junction showing how it would operate in 2027 with and without the 
development. As presented in the table 8.2 and paragraphs 8.10 and 8.11 of the Assessment, the 
signal-controlled junction will operate over its practical capacity. No additional information has been 
submitted on how the junction currently operates. National Highways have also advised that further 
information is required in relation to how this junction operates. The Highway Authority have set out 
that it is clear that the junction currently has capacity issues and experiences high levels of 
congestion. This has also been raised as a concerns from residents of Galgate who have experience 
of using this junction. There are proposals for a link road scheme at Junction 33 (secured through 
HIF) however there is still some uncertainty regarding this and therefore the application must be 
considered based on the current situation. 
 

5.3.6 In addition to the above, parking currently takes place on the south side of Salford Road adjacent to 
the junction. This parking currently impacts on the operation of Salford Road and the junction with 
the A6. When vehicles are queuing to exit Salford Road, vehicles turning into the road are obstructed 
by the parked vehicles and therefore back up onto the A6 and cause an obstruction until the vehicles 
exiting Salford road have cleared the junction. On street parking also takes place along the 
remaining length of Salford Road from the junction of Salford Road and Highland Brow to the 
junction of Salford Road and the A6. This currently impacts on the free flow of traffic especially at 
peak times. Any additional vehicle movements from the proposed development would exacerbate 
the existing issues. 
 

5.3.7 The delivery of significant development throughout the District will require extensive new highway 
changes and improvement to existing infrastructure. As such, it is anticipated that development of 

Page 14



 

Page 12 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

this scale would provide financial contributions to help fund the projects. In addition, both Policy SG1 
and SG3 are clear that development in this area should contribute to infrastructure requirements. 
Policy SG3 sets out that the forthcoming DPD will seek to address various infrastructure matters. 
Those specifically relating to highway matters are: the delivery of access into the Strategic Highways 
Network via a reconfiguration of Junction 33 of the M6; improvements to the local road network as 
appropriate to address recognised capacity issues and issues of highway safety; improvements to 
the public transport network; improving cycling and walking linkages to Lancaster City Centre and 
Galgate through the creation of a Cycling and Walking Superhighway in addition to improvements to  
walking and cycling links along the Lancaster Canal. 
 

5.3.8 In relation to highway infrastructure projects, the Highway Authority have set out that the key 
measures being developed include: 

 M6 J33 reconfiguration with link road (Central 1 option being assessed further); 

 Infrastructure in and around the Garden Village area and connecting corridors supporting 
access both north and south; 

 Lancaster wide sustainable transport improvements, including; 
- Cycle superhighway 
- High quality public transport route 
- Park and Ride 

 Lancaster City Centre Movement and Public Realm Strategy; 

 Traffic management measures to the north and south of the Lune; and 

  Changes to other key corridors in the district. 
 

5.3.9 The funding for the J33 link road scheme has been identified (HIF funding). However, the Highway 
Authority have set out that the remaining elements of the infrastructure required will need to be 
delivered through contributions secured from development. Given the scale of the measures 
necessary to support the local plan, it is appropriate that all development that comes forward should 
contribute in a fair and equitable manner towards the delivery of the infrastructure and associated 
measures. A wider strategy is being developed by the highway authority that incorporates the above, 
providing levels of contribution from all developments in Lancaster in an equitable and evidence 
based manner to support the Local Plan. The level of contribution required has not yet been 
provided by the Highway Authority. However, with regards to this development, it would not make 
the development acceptable in planning terms as it would not address the issues with regards to the 
existing highway constraints and issues highlighted above, and the development is therefore 
considered to have a severe impact on the local highway network. 
 

5.3.10 In relation to sustainable travel, the Highway Authority has raised concerns regarding pedestrian 
linkage with the centre of Galgate. In particular, there is a lack of a suitable footway from the junction 
of Salford Road and Highland Brow to the junction of Salford Road and the A6. Sections of the 
existing footway provision are less than 1 metre in width and are therefore unsuitable to support all 
footway users. This footway is the only available route for pedestrians from the proposed 
development to access the local facilities, at a distance of approximately 1 km from the centre of the 
site, including shops, public house, primary school and bus stops. In addition, the Institute of 
Highways and Transportation guidance states that an ‘acceptable’ distance to schools and work is 
1km, to town centres 400m and elsewhere 800m.  With regard to public transport, the IHT advises 
that 400m is an acceptable walking distance to a bus stop.  The site lies beyond acceptable walking 
distances to services, most notably bus services along the A6.  The site layout has a single point of 
access on to Highland Brow for all modes and in effect prioritises vehicular traffic. It provides poor 
permeability for pedestrians within the site and to neighbouring residential areas.  The proposal is 
therefore considered to be contrary to paragraph 112 of the NPPF, which states development should 
prioritise walking and cycling, and to policy DM60, which seeks to ensure proposals can achieve 
sustainable travel patterns and policy DM6 which relates to the safety of pedestrians. 
 

5.3.11 The cycling network in the vicinity of the site includes the on-road Sustrans route NCN 6.  The route 
between the site and the services located within the village follows the line of NCN6 but is 
hazardous, particularly at the railway viaduct where on street parking exacerbates the issues of 
oncoming traffic and lack of road width. The canal towpath lies to the west of the site and is 
accessed via Ellel Hall Bridge.  It is currently unsurfaced and is identified as an aspirational cycle 
route under Policy T2 of the SPLA DPD. The provision for cycling in the vicinity of the site is 
considered to be poor and the application does not propose any improvements to the local network 
as set out under Policy T2 and DM61 of the DM DPD. The Highway Authority have also advised that 

Page 15



 

Page 13 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

suitable cycle storage needs to be provided for all dwellings in addition to electric vehicle changing 
points. The units which have garages would have sufficient space to store bicycles. Those without 
would need additional provision, such as a small shed and it is considered that this and the charging 
points could be covered by a condition. However, this does not overcome the concerns highlighted 
above regarding suitable sustainable travel links from the site, which is also one of the key growth 
principles for development in this area under policy SG1. 
 

5.3.12 In relation to the Strategic Road Network, National Highways have advised that there is currently 
insufficient information to enable them to form a final view on the proposal. In particular, the 
Transport Assessment does not provide details on the existing situation or collision data in relation to 
the Strategic Road Network, namely Junction 33 of the M6 or the future traffic flows. They have 
advised that J33 of the M6 is a sensitive location and National Highways will need sufficient 
information to fully understand the impacts of the proposal given its proximity to the junction. The 
crossroads at Galgate experiences congestion at peak times that extends back towards the M6 J33 / 
A6 Hampson Green roundabout. They have requested evidence outlining the current conditions, for 
example site observations and traffic surveys including observed queues. In terms of safety, they 
have requested that the study area for collision analysis is updated to include the Preston Lancaster 
Road between the A6 / Stoney Lane / Salford Road junction and M6 J33. National Highways have 
also requested that the study area for Future Baseline Traffic Flows is updated in include J33 of the 
M6 and they have also advised that the capacity assessment years are not policy compliant and 
should cover a greater number of years. They have also set out that there are other committed 
developments within the area that have not been considered in the Transport Assessment that will 
add traffic to the A6.  
 

5.3.13 National Highways originally raised a holding objection, requesting that the application was not 
determined until 29 September 2022 to allow for further information to be provided. This has now 
been extended until 29 November as no information has been provided. It is understood that further 
work is being prepared to address their comments, however there has been sufficient time since the 
original comments for this to be provided so it is considered appropriate to give a recommendation 
on the application, rather than delay it further to allow for the additional information when there are a 
number of other concerns regarding the proposal. Whilst National Highways have not raised an 
objection, that have been unable to reach a view on the impact on the Strategic Road Network. As 
such, this matter would also form part of the highway reason for refusal, as it is unclear at present if 
there would be a detrimental impact given the insufficient information. However, it is acknowledged 
that this element may be overcome through the submission of additional information. Clarification is 
being sought as to whether a formal notice needs to be served to the Secretary of State, given the 
holding objection, although it may not be necessary if the application is refused. 
 

5.3.14 Overall, it is considered that the proposal would have a severe impact on the local highway network 
as a result in the increased traffic flows in an area that currently experiences capacity issues and 
high levels of congestion and is also constrained by on street parking. The scheme also provides 
poor permeability for pedestrians and fails to provide appropriate and safe cycle linkages to Galgate, 
in particular, or improvement to the wider cycle network. The submission also fails to provide 
sufficient information to allow the impact on the Strategic Road Network to be fully considered. The 
proposal is therefore contrary to the aims and objectives of the NPPF and the Development Plan, as 
discussed above. As set out above, some clarification has been sought from the Highway Authority 
about their particular concerns regarding the suitability of the proposed access, internal road and 
parking. 
 

5.4 Flood Risk and Drainage NPPF paragraphs: 159-165, 167 and 169 (Planning and Flood Risk); 
Development Management (DM) DPD policies DM29 (Key Design Principles), DM35 (Surface Water 
Run-off and Sustainable Drainage); 152, 154, 159-167 and 169 (Flood Risk and Drainage); Strategic 
Policies and Land Allocations (SPLA) DPD policies SP8 (Protecting the Natural Environment) and 
SG1 (Lancaster South Broad Location for Growth); Development Management (DM) DPD policies 
DM33 (Development and Flood Risk), DM34 (Surface Water Run-off and Sustainable Drainage) and 
DM35 (Water Supply and Waste Water) 
 

5.4.1 A Flood Risk Assessment and drainage strategy have been submitted as part of the application. The 
site is located primarily in flood zone 1, and drains to the adjacent designated main river Ou Beck. 
However, the communities in this location were significantly affected by the flooding event on 22 
November 2017 and development in this area may increase flood risk if not properly managed. 

Page 16



 

Page 14 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

Paragraph 167 of the NPPF requires applicants to demonstrate, through a site-specific flood risk 
assessment, that: 

 within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood risk, 
unless there are overriding reasons to prefer a different location; 

 the development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient such that, in the event of a 
flood, it could be quickly brought back into use without significant refurbishment; 

 it incorporates sustainable drainage systems unless there is clear evidence that this would be 
inappropriate; 

 any residual risk can be safely managed; and 

 safe access and escape routes are included where appropriate, as part of an agreed 
emergency plan. 

 
5.4.2 Both the Environment Agency and the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) have raised an objection to 

the proposal and have advised that the FRA provided with the application is not acceptable and does 
not adequately assess the flood risks proposed by the development. The Environment Agency have 
advised that, in particular, the FRA fails to: 

 Demonstrate how known flooding problems would be satisfactorily managed in order that risk 
of flooding is not exacerbated both on and off-site; 

 Consider how a range of flooding events (including extreme events) will affect people and 
property and how people will be kept safe from the identified flood hazards, including 
consideration of safe access and egress routes. 
 

5.4.3 The LLFA have set out that the FRA fails to: fully assess the risk of surface water flooding to the site; 
locate the most vulnerable development in the areas of lowest flood risk; demonstrate that the 
development proposal will not result in a flood risk within or outside the development; and 
demonstrate that residual risks can be safely managed. In relation to the first point, the submission 
states that "the site is therefore not considered to be at significant risk of flooding from run-off from 
adjacent land". However, there is known to have been a significant issue historically on the site, 
resulting in the creation of a flood embankment/drain (identified as a culvert in the submission) to 
protect the adjacent properties on Meadow Park. This should be considered and fully assessed 
within the site-specific flood risk assessment. 
 

5.4.4 The built development has been focussed on the low-lying area of the site, which is at high risk of 
surface water flooding, leaving the very low risk upper area as public open space. The current site-
specific flood risk assessment does not provide overriding reasons to locate the most vulnerable 
development in this location, although it is likely that development has been avoided on the highest 
areas to reduce the overall landscape and visual impact. As set out in paragraph 159 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, development in areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing 
development away from areas at highest risk. 
 

5.4.5 A large area at low to high risk of surface water flooding exists on the site. The submission has not 
assessed how displacement of this flood risk as a result of the proposed development may increase 
flood risk both on and off-site, nor has it been identified how this flood risk will be mitigated post-
development. In addition, the submission states an intention to install a cut-off drain around the 
boundary of the site. The LLFA have advised that more information is needed with regards to this, to 
ensure that it is sized correctly to manage flows from outside the site boundary and to ensure that 
flows into Ou Beck are not increased. Currently, this drain has an unattenuated discharge to the 
beck, which may increase flood risk off-site. 
 

5.4.6 In terms on managing residual risks, the submission proposes to locate the surface water 
attenuation (pond and storage tank) upslope of the majority of the development. This represents a 
significant residual risk should the capacity of these components be exceeded. These components 
should be located at the bottom of the site to reduce this risk, or an analysis of the exceedance of 
these components must be provided to show the flow paths, flood depths, velocities and extents for 
events exceeding the design 1% Annual Exceedance Probability Storm. 
 

5.4.7 The LLFA have also raised several concerns with the proposed drainage strategy, in particular: 

 The parameters used to calculate the greenfield runoff rate must be justified and the soil type 
of 0.45 (heavy clay) does not appear to be appropriate for the site, given the geologies 
identified through the site investigations as superficial sand/silt/gravel. Failure to select and 

Page 17



 

Page 15 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

justify a parameter representative of the site may result in excessive discharge of surface 
water and may increase flood risk off-site. 

 The proposed pond as part of the SuDS design needs to be clarified; 

 The proposed SuDS does not provide multifunctional benefits, in line with the expectations 
set out in the National Planning Policy Framework. Given the large, greenfield nature of the 
site and the discharge to a watercourse, a multifunctional SuDS, incorporating a treatment 
train for water quality and benefits for biodiversity and amenity would be expected; 

 An urban creep allowance of 10% to be applied to all developments unless this will result in 
an impermeable area greater than 100%. 

 Updated climate change allowances were published by the Environment Agency on 10 May 
2022 to reflect the latest projections in UKCP Local (2.2km) and should be used in the 
assessment; 

 A volumetric runoff coefficient of 1 should be applied when modelling impermeable areas. An 
appropriate contribution from permeable areas must also be considered and justified. The 
current contributing areas suggest that only impermeable areas will contribute to the drainage 
system, excluding the remaining permeable areas of the site. While these areas, such as 
gardens, roadside verges and areas of public open space, may not be positively drained, 
they may contribute indirectly to the drainage system. 

 When modelling the SuDS, it must be ensured that a surcharged outfall is applied. 
 

5.4.8 The submitted Flood Risk Assessment fails to comply with the requirements within the NPPF or the 
PPG. In addition to the above, neither the Flood Risk Assessment nor the Drainage Strategy refer to 
the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) as required by policy DM33: Development and Flood 
Risk. The SFRA has recently been updated to address changes in flood modelling and the impacts 
of climate change as advised by the guidance. The Planning Practice Guidance (Paragraph: 050 
Reference ID: 7-050-20140306) states that local authorities and development should seek 
opportunities to reduce the overall flood risk in the area and beyond. Given the extensive recent 
flooding in this area, any development in this location should take the opportunity to incorporate 
measures to reduce flood risk both on and beyond the site. Overall, the submission fails to fully 
assess the flood risk at the site, demonstrate how known flooding problems would be satisfactorily 
managed and how the proposal would not result in a flood risk within or outside the development, 
locate the most vulnerable development in area at lowest flood risk, demonstrate that residual risks 
can be managed and consider how people will be kept safe from the identified flood hazards, 
including consideration of safe access and egress routes.  
  

5.5 Landscape Impact, Layout, Design and Open Space NPPF paragraphs: 92-93, 98-100 
(Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities including Open Space and Recreation), 126-134 
(Achieving Well-Designed Places), 174 (Valued Landscapes and the Countryside); Strategic Policies 
and Land Allocations (SPLA) DPD: SP8 (Protecting the Natural Environment) and SG1 (Lancaster 
South Broad Location for Growth) and EN3 (The Open Countryside); Development Management 
(DM) DPD policies: DM27 (Open Space, Sports and Recreational Facilities), DM29 (Key Design 
Principles), DM43 (Green Infrastructure), DM46 (Development and Landscape Impact) and DM57 
(Health and Well-Being) 
 

5.5.1 The site occupies a prominent location within the local area due to its elevated nature. The land rises 
significantly to the northeast corner of the site and forms part of a drumlin feature within the 
landscape. Following the commencement of the preparation of the AAP, the City Council 
commissioned landscape consultants to undertake a landscape assessment of the broad location for 
growth. A ‘Bailrigg Garden Village Area Action Plan Landscape Sensitivity Assessment’ study was 
completed in March 2021. This divided the broad location into compartments and considered the 
sensitivity of the landscape to both residential and commercial development. The application site is 
located in compartment LP5: Galgate South Western Fringe.  The study concluded that the area had 
a low to moderate landscape sensitivity to residential development and noted that the parcel forms 
part of the wider drumlin landscape, characterised by two topographical high points at Highland Brow 
and Park Coppice. The location of these summits within the landscape parcel are viewed to be of 
increased sensitivity due to their localised visual prominence within the landscape. The study notes 
that any development in this location should be carefully designed to avoid the increased 
prominence of the built form and intervisibility as the topography rises towards the summit of 
Highland Brow. 
 

5.5.2 In addition to the above study, a landscape and visual appraisal of the landscape masterplan 

Page 18



 

Page 16 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

framework contained within the JTP Masterplan was also commissioned. This work was completed 
in September 2021. The report used the same compartments identified in the earlier sensitivity 
study. The study supported the conclusions of the Masterplan, noting that: the integration of a large 
tract of landscape buffer between the Garden Village and Galgate provides physical and visual 
separation from Galgate; the development proposals within in the Masterplan avoided the summit of 
Highland Brow to reduce intervisibility within the wider landscape; and that the proposed form and 
scale of agroforestry is consistent with the wider woodland blocks within the landscape parcel, 
including at Park Coppice. Whilst the exact boundaries of the green buffer between Galgate and the 
Garden Village are still to be defined, development at this location would clearly limit the extent of 
this buffer, the identification of which is supported by the AAP evidence base. Development at this 
location would as such be contrary to design principle 3 of the JTP Masterplan which seeks to 
secure large areas of landscape between the Garden Village and Galgate.  
 

5.5.3 This is also consistent with the requirements of Policy SG1 and in particular, criteria 6 which sets out 
that the Council will look to create sufficient areas of high quality open spaces to provide a distinct 
sense of place and deliver a network of green corridors and walking and cycling routes across the 
South Lancaster area to the benefit of the local environment and residents. It goes on to state that 
the delivery of such spaces should make for distinct areas of separation between the new 
development and the urban edge of Lancaster, Bailrigg Village and Galgate and give the potential to 
bring forward a new country park. 
 

5.5.4 The criteria for assessing landscape impacts are provided under Policy DM46 of the Development 
Management document which recognises that, in addition to nationally and locally designated 
landscapes, the district also has a range of landscapes and townscapes which are valued, unique 
and provide a direct sense of place, which the Council seeks to protect and enhance. The policy 
goes on to state that outside of protected and designated landscapes the Council will support 
development that is in scale and keeping with the landscape character and is appropriate to its 
surroundings in terms of siting, scale, massing, design, materials, external appearance and 
landscaping. The need to consider both the individual and cumulative impacts of a proposal are also 
noted. 
 

5.5.5 The submitted layout for the proposed development has shown the highest areas of land proposed 
as public open space. It would appear that the site has been arranged in this way in order to reduce 
the landscape and visual impact of the proposed development. It is acknowledged that it will keep 
the built development off the highest area, although it is unclear how land levels are to treated 
throughout the site. An existing topographical survey has been submitted but not proposed levels or 
sections and it is unclear at what level the dwellings to the east, in particular, will be located, in 
addition to the main road through the development and whether any retaining features are required. 
  

5.5.6 By locating the majority of the dwellings to the west of the site, it has resulted in a cramped form of 
development with limited green and open space within the built form which leads to poor design and 
place making. On the entrance into the site the development is dominated by relatively closely 
spaced detached dwellings. Further into the site, the fronts of some properties are dominated car 
parking, reducing any opportunity for green space and increased landscaping. The dwellings are 
also quite close to the site boundaries to the north and are two storey, whereas the adjacent 
dwellings are bungalows. Given the close proximity, it is likely that these will appear quite visually 
dominating in relation to the existing dwelling, particularly as there are some uncertainties regarding 
the finished floor levels. Whilst most of the garden spaces are 10 metres in length, or close to this, 
some o the smaller units would have quite narrow gardens (less than 50 square metres) which also 
gives the impression of a very cramped form of development. The development is also close to a 
belt of very tall trees along the canal and puts pressure on these as they will be quite dominating to 
the development. 
 

5.5.7 In terms of the overall design of the dwellings, these are a mix of detached, semi-detached and 
terraced properties. The proposed materials are unclear in the submission, and clarification has 
been sought from the agent. However, as discussed above, the purpose of policy SG1 is to deliver a 
self-contained Garden Village, which focuses on high quality development that carefully balances 
housing and employment requirements, whilst maintaining strong and embedded environmental and 
high-quality design objectives. With the exception of one dwelling with a very steep pitch, the 
proposed housetypes are relatively simple with pitched roofs and projecting gables on some. 
However, these are quite bland and uninspiring and so not reflect the objective of achieving high-

Page 19



 

Page 17 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

quality urban design which promotes sustainable, attractive places to live, defining a sense of place 
and creates a sense of community for its new residents. 
 

5.5.8 In terms of the open space, as set out above, this is focussed in the northeast corner of the site. 
Policy SC4 identifies a series of Green Space Networks that ‘will be protected from development 
which would cause inappropriate harm and damage to their value and integrity’. The Lancaster 
Canal is one of the key Green Space Networks identified, which lies adjacent to the west of this site. 
Policy DM43 states that ‘development proposals should seek to integrate green spaces and green 
corridors into development proposals and forge linkages with existing green space networks’. Policy 
T3 is specifically for development proposals which are adjacent to, or adjoining, the Lancaster Canal, 
in which a number of the issues highlighted relate to green and blue infrastructure. Given the 
proposal site is adjacent to the canal, the Council would expect development proposals to ‘integrate 
the waterway, towpath and canal environment into the public realm in terms of design and 
management of the development’ and ‘enhance/improve the environmental quality and green 
infrastructure of the waterway corridor in that area, providing a net gain in biodiversity’ in accordance 
with policy T3. 
 

5.5.9 Policy DM27 sets out the planning policy position in relation to ‘Open Space, Sports and Recreation 
Facilities’ stating that ‘development proposals located in areas of recognised open space, sports and 
recreational facility deficiency will be required to provide appropriate contributions toward open 
space, sports and recreational facility provision, either through provision on-site or a financial 
contribution toward the creation of new or the enhancement of existing open spaces, sports and 
recreational facilities off-site’. Whilst it is recognised that the development incorporates the provision 
of open space within its proposal, it is important that this is the type, amount and quality that is 
required. The detail on which is currently not clear within the proposal.  
 

5.5.10 Some of the open space provision is likely to be required for ecological mitigation and so this needs 
to be carefully balanced alongside the recreational needs of the development. Whilst the Council 
actively encourage the value and benefits of multi-functional spaces, it is important that these are 
compatible. It appears that various reports in the submission are conflicting in how this land will be 
used or planted. It has been identified as meadow planting on the Landscaping Plan, but then the 
site plan within the Ecology Assessment refers to allotments and community gardens, whereas the 
Landscape Layout and Planning, Design and Access Statement indicate a proposed orchard.  The 
Planning Advisory Note requires 2284.1m2 of Amenity Space on site. This should be a mown 
informal space where young children could have a kick about Whilst the area of open space appears 
to significantly exceed this, as mentioned above, it is unclear how this land is intended to be used 
and more information is required to ascertain if it provides appropriate amenity space in addition to 
ecological mitigation and enhancements. The development is of an appropriate size that a play area 
and young person provisions would be required to be provided on site. Although there is a local area 
of play designated, this needs to be equipped and is lacking details. 
 

5.5.11 All other requirements may require off site contribution. The maximum contribution possible would be 
£177,670.35 based on calculations using the Development Management DPD.The Lancaster 
Playing Pitch and Outdoor Strategy 2018 also identifies deficiencies as outlined below, which has 
been used to allocate the contributions: 

 That two adult football pitches of standard quality which are available for community use. The 
pitches are currently overplayed and contribution would be used to improve pitch quality 
through more regular enhanced maintenance and remedial work in order to alleviate levels of 
overplay on the site. 

 The cricket square is of good quality, however there is a report for a need for fixed bay nets, 
a roll-on cage, another NTP and a bowling machine. 

 The bowling green requires improving from standard quality to good quality, requiring a 
contribution of £138,514.35 

 For the Parks and Gardens deficiency, a contribution of £39,156 towards Greaves Park 
which is within a 10 minute drive from the development is required. This would contribute 
towards tree planting and maintenance and improving and maintaining current assets 

 
Policies DM43: Green Infrastructure and DM57: Health and Wellbeing set out the expectations that 
food growing spaces should be provided in new developments, as they are an important element of 
open space which provide a range of benefits for communities and the environment. The Council 
outlines expectations for food growing spaces which also include on-site composting as part of 

Page 20



 

Page 18 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

PAN2—Encouraging the Growing of Food within New Development Planning Advisory Note.  The 
Council would welcome sight of a complete planting plan and management plan in light of these 
conflicting proposals. 
 

5.5.12 Overall it is considered that the proposal fails to create a high quality design, and overall sense of 
place, and would be contrary to the aims and objectives of the NPPF and the Development Plan, 
and in particular the policies relating to the Broad Location of Growth. Whilst most of the 
development is located on the lower parts of the site, it is not fully clear how level changes will 
appearance of the site or how the open spec is proposed to be used. Therefore, it is considered that 
it has not been adequately demonstrated that the development would be appropriately integrated 
into the landscape and would not have a detrimental impact on the chacter and appearance of the 
area. 
 

5.6 Residential Amenity NPPF paragraphs: 92 (Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities), 130 
(Achieving Well-Designed Places), 183-189 (Noise and Pollution); Development Management (DM) 
DPD policies DM29 (Key Design Principles), and DM57 (Health and Well-Being). 
 

5.6.1 The southern site boundary adjoins the rear gardens of a number of residential properties which 
front onto Meadow Park to the south. A row of dwellings is proposed along the southern boundary 
and the rear gardens will join those of the existing properties. The distance between the rear wall of 
the proposed dwellings and the boundary is between approximately 10 metres and 13 metres, with 
the distance from the rear wall of the existing properties between approximately 19.5 and 21 metres. 
The adjacent properties to the south comprise bungalows, with the exception of the one fronting 
Highland Brow, whereas the proposed dwellings are two storey. The land also rises quite quickly at 
the rear of some of the properties and it is not clear from the submission at what level the dwellings 
would be sited in relation to existing ground levels or the adjacent development. 
 

5.6.2 Policy DM29 sets out that development should ensure that there is no significant detrimental impact 
to amenity in relation to overshadowing, visual amenity, privacy, overlooking, massing and pollution. 
The supporting text to this sets out that there should normally be at least 21 metres between 
dwellings where windows of habitable rooms face each other and for every half-metre change in 
levels between properties, a further 1 metre separation should be provided. It also sets out that rear 
gardens should look to achieve at least 10 metres in depth, unless there are overriding design 
reasons to justify a reduced depth, providing that neighbouring private amenity open space will not 
be overlooked. Given the proximity to the boundary and the neighbouring dwellings, it is considered 
that the proposal will have a detrimental impact on the amenity of the occupiers of these properties 
and result in a loss of privacy. The separation distance between the dwellings in many instances is 
too little to ensure that privacy is maintained and the development would also result in significant 
overlooking to rear garden areas, many of which currently appear to be very private at present. To 
overcome this, it would be expected that a significant gap is created in order to protect the existing 
amenity currently afforded by the occupiers. This would also help to retain the existing landscaping 
along the rear boundary of some of the residential properties. 
 

5.6.3 In terms of the amenity of the future occupants, this is less likely to be overlooked from the existing 
dwellings as these are bungalows, although several do have dormer windows, so there is likely to be 
a degree of mutual overlooking. Separation distances within the site, between the proposed 
dwellings, appear to be acceptable and provide an acceptable level of amenity. Most gardens are 10 
metres in depth, although some of the smaller units are below the 50 square metres which is set out 
in the supporting text to Policy DM29, although this has been considered above in terms of the 
overall design. 
 

5.6.4 The site is relatively close to the railway line, approximately 45 metres at its closest point, and 
therefore there is potential for noise and vibration impacts to future occupants. A noise assessment 
has been submitted with the application. This sets out that, from the railway noise results in the 
report, the internal noise level criteria shown will be achieved with the fitting of standard thermal 
double glazing and standard non-acoustic trickle vents for the vast majority of dwellings on the site. It 
goes on to say that it is generally accepted that a partially open window will reduce the external 
noise level by 10-15dB(A) and therefore, for all living rooms and the majority of bedrooms on the 
development, the BS 8233 recommended noise levels will also be met with windows open. However, 
to ensure night-time maximum noise levels are not exceeded for dwellings closest to Highland Brow, 
acoustic vents are recommended. It also sets out that the low level of predicted daytime railway 

Page 21



 

Page 19 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

noise of 46 dB LAeq,16h for the dwellings closest to Highland Brow and 39 dB LAeq,16h for the 
dwellings at the eastern boundary of the site means that noise in private rear gardens will be well 
within the BS 8233 criteria and therefore, no noise mitigation measures are necessary for gardens. It 
therefore appears that there would not be a detrimental impact on residential amenity as a result of 
railway noise provided that mitigation is secured.  Comments are still awaited from Environmental 
Health, and should hopefully be provided in an update at the Committee meeting. 
 

5.7 Biodiversity and Trees (NPPF paragraphs: 174 and 179-182 (Habitats and biodiversity); Strategic 
Policies and Land Allocations (SPLA) DPD policies: SP8 (Protecting the Natural Environment, SG1 
(Lancaster South Broad Location for Growth) and EN7 (Environmentally Important Areas); 
Development Management (DM) DPD policies DM43 (Green Infrastructure), DM44 (Protection and 
Enhancement of Biodiversity) and DM45 (Protection of Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland).  
 

5.7.1 The site is located approximately 1.7 kilometres from the Lune Estuary Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI), which is also covered by the Morecambe Bay Special Area of Conservation (SAC), 
Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar Site. Natural England has provided comments in relation 
to the designated sites and have advised that the LPA, as a competent authority under the 
provisions of the Habitats Regulations, should have regard for any potential impacts. It therefore 
needs to be determined whether the proposal is likely to have a significant effect on the designated 
areas, proceeding to the Appropriate Assessment stage where significant effects cannot be ruled 
out. 
 

5.7.2 Natural England have advised that there is currently insufficient information provided with the 
application to determine whether the likelihood of significant effects can be ruled out. They have 
advised that additional information is requested to help undertake a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA). The submitted Flood Risk and Drainage Assessment sets out that surface water 
runoff will be discharged into Ou Beck via an existing watercourse. Natural England have identified a  
hydrological connection from the development site to Morecambe Bay and advise that further details 
are provided of how surface water drainage will be managed during the construction and operation 
phase, with mitigation suggested where any impacts are identified. This is to ensure there are no 
adverse effects via water quality on the above designated sites. They have also advised that the 
development is likely to result in increased recreational pressure on the Morecambe Bay designated 
sites (and potentially on functionally linked land), resulting in an increase in trampling, visual and 
noise disturbance and displacement effects. This impact should be assessed through the HRA and 
any mitigation measures identified and assessed within an Appropriate Assessment if required. 
 

5.7.3 Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) provide ecological advice for the LPA and have included 
comments in relation to the designated sites. Whilst Natural England have not raised any concerns 
regarding the use of the site by birds associated with the SPA, this has been raised by other 
consultees and would be to be considered in the LPA’s HRA. GMEU have advised that they have 
carried out extensive bird surveys of the site and the surrounding area over a number of years. While 
small numbers of notable bird species have been recorded on the site (most notably, Lapwing) both 
during the winter months and during the breeding season, it is considered that the application site 
does not act as functionally linked to the designated sites. That is, loss of the site will not affect the 
conservation status of the notable bird species associated with the protected sites. 
 

5.7.4 In relation to potentially impact as a result of recreational disturbance, it is noted that the site is not 
directly connected to the Bay, but it does seem likely that new residents will be attracted to the 
nearby coastline for recreation, and therefore measures should be required to mitigate for this 
impact. The public open space provided as part of the development may help to reduce the need for 
outdoor recreation away from the development. However, it is recommended that new residents are 
provided with information about the importance of the coastline for birds, and the need to avoid 
disturbing birds on visits to the coastline. This can be in the form of homeowner packs and/ or 
information boards and covered by a condition. Therefore, with mitigation, this impact could be 
addressed. 
 

5.7.5 In relation to the hydrological connectivity between the site and the Bay, GMEU have advised that 
there are well-established mitigation measures which could be employed to avoid any water pollution 
impacts. They have recommended that a Construction Environmental Method Statement is required 
to be prepared for the development which would include details of measures to be taken to avoid 
pollution of the Ou Brook and the Canal. However, this would not appear to address drainage during 

Page 22



 

Page 20 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

the operation stage of the development. As discussed in the section above, in relation to flood risk 
and drainage, the submission is currently unacceptable. As such, there is not a scheme available 
that shows how the site would be appropriately drainage and, as such, a conclusion cannot currently 
be reached that there would not be likely significant effects to the designated sites at this stage.  
 

5.7.6 The site is also immediately adjacent to the Lancaster Canal Biological Heritage Site (BHS), a locally 
designated nature conservation site. The proposed site layout shows a buffer zone of existing trees 
between the built development and the Canal which should mitigate for some disturbance effects 
during any construction period, and providing that measures are taken to avoid water pollution, it is 
considered that the development would not cause substantive harm to the BHS. 
 

5.7.7 The response from GMEU sets out that the site is dominated by species-poor agricultural land, but 
there are some higher value locally important habitats on the site, including a pond, hedgerows, a 
watercourse and trees. The submitted ecology reports show that all or parts of these habitats will be 
retained on site, and/or replaced and enhanced. However, there do appear to be discrepancies 
between the recommendations made in the ecology reports, the outline Landscape plans and the 
Arboricultural assessment. In the Arboricultural assessment, hedgerows 11H and 17H are shown as 
being removed, however the Ecology report recommends that the hedgerows are retained to 
maintain connectivity through the site. The retention of 17H is particularly important because it would 
provide a corridor for the movement of amphibians and reptiles, as well as other wildlife. This is 
along the northern boundary and therefore there does not appear to be a strong justification for its 
removal. 11H Crosses the site in a north/south direction and most of this could not be retained in 
relation to the current proposal, although it would be possible to retain part of this and more if the 
layout was altered. 
 

5.7.8 A section of the hedgerow along the boundary with Highland Brow would require removal to 
accommodate the access, visibility splays and single dwelling on the frontage. It is possible that 
more of the hedgerow along Highland Brow would need to be removed to allow for this than is 
currently shown in the plans. GMEU have advised that, if this is necessary, replanting of a hedgerow 
should be required further back into the site to retain as much of the habitat as possible. Proposals 
to retain and enhance the pond on the site and its surroundings, to plant more trees and shrubs and 
to create more species-rich grassland are supported. GMEU have advised that a long-term 
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan should be required to be prepared for the site. 
 

5.7.9 The Council’s Arboricultural Officer has also provided further advise in relation to trees and 
hedgerows. The woodland bordering Lancaster canal appears to be of notable age and is clearly 
shown on the OS map published in 1848 (OS Lancashire Sheet 24), surveyed between 1844 and 
1845, indicating that the area has been wooded for over 170 years. The hedgerows, which are a 
prominent feature of the site, appear to have been developed later, with the field system modified 
between 1845 and 1890. Whilst this would suggest that the hedgerows are not ‘important’ 
historically, the ecological appraisal identifies the western boundary as ‘important’, as defined by the 
Hedgerow Regulations 1997, satisfying the wildlife/landscape criteria. The Arboricultural Implications 
Assessment identifies a total of 16 individual trees, seven groups and three hedgerows located 
around the perimeter of the two fields. The existing trees and hedgerows contribute to the rural 
character of the area, providing important habitat corridors across the site and the wider landscape. 
All are clearly visible to residents and those accessing the local area along Highland Brow and 
Lancaster canal.   
 

5.7.10 To construct the development, the AIA states that two hedgerows (11H and 17H) will require 
complete removal along with the partial removal of 1H. In addition, the AIA recommends that three 
ash trees (18T-20T) require removal due to the presence of ash dieback. A conflict between the 
development and the RPA of one tree (16T) is also noted due to the proximity of the adjacent plot. 
Further, whilst ash dieback is present, it is not clear why all three ash trees require removal, 19T has 
minimal signs of ash dieback.  
 

5.7.11 Details of landscaping are limited to indictive planting locations. The landscape layout plan shows 
that the north east of the site will remain undeveloped, with existing vegetation retained, a native 
hedgerow planted around the perimeter, and individual trees planted. A large orchard is also shown 
adjacent to the site entrance. The northern boundary is to be buffered with native woodland planting. 
Street trees are depicted along the main access road, with scattered roadside planting in the 
remainder of the site. Except for the street trees, no other hedgerow or tree planting is shown within 

Page 23



 

Page 21 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

the site. No planting is shown along the western boundary with the existing woodland.  
 

5.7.12 A high-quality landscaping plan is required which clearly shows how the current character of the site 
will be retained/enhanced. As noted in the ecological assessment, the scheme should maximise 
green infrastructure and green links through the site. Internal planting is currently limited to street 
trees which appear to be planted within the small green spaces to the front of properties. The 
internal layout should be landscape led, creating a place for people and wildlife rather than buildings. 
This links into concerns highlighted in the earlier section with regards to the overall design and layout 
of the scheme. As noted in the ecological assessment, and highlighted in the concerns from GMEU, 
existing trees and hedgerows should be retained, which includes the retention of the standard trees 
along the northern boundary. It is also considered that the important habitat along the western 
boundary should be enhanced, increasing its biodiversity value and buffering it from the 
development. This will require changes to the layout, moving the access road and drainage. These 
are particularly tall trees, and although there is a separation from the housing, there may be pressure 
for there removal in the future.  
 

5.7.13 The most notable species associated with the site are birds, amphibians and reptiles. As set out 
above, a small number of Lapwing have been recorded on the site in both summer and winter. 
GMEU have also advised that, also present in the breeding season were Tree Sparrows, Lesser 
Redpoll, Starling and Dunnock. All of these latter species are associated with hedgerows and tree 
lines which will be retained or replaced, including the Ou Beck corridor and along the Canal. It will 
not be possible to mitigate for the loss of Lapwing habitats within the site, since this species requires 
open undisturbed grassland. The fields to the north are well used by Lapwing, and there is likely to 
be sufficient alternative habitat available in the surrounding area to accommodate the small number 
of Lapwings which may be displaced from the application site. 
 

5.7.14 The pond on the site has been shown to support a small population of the protected species great 
crested newts. The pond and immediately surrounding habitat are to be retained and improved, but 
currently hedgerows (particularly 17H) of value to amphibians are shown as being removed. This will 
result in a direct loss of habitat suitable for use by great crested newts, and a loss of a valuable 
movement corridor. If 17H were to be retained, GMEU have advised that they would consider that 
the proposal would conserve the great crested newt population, providing that precautionary 
measures are implemented during any ground clearance and construction works to avoid any direct 
harm to newts. A comprehensive method statement must be prepared giving full details of the 
measures to be taken to avoid harm to amphibians. This method statement will also benefit reptiles, 
which are considered in more detail below. A License will need to be obtained from Natural England 
before any works which could affect great crested newts can commence. Obtaining this License is 
separate from any grant of planning permission. 
 

5.7.15 Otters are known to use the Canal, but the site itself is of very limited value for otters because it is so 
open. Providing that the landscape buffer zone between the development and the Canal is retained 
and protected, it is unlikely that the proposals will cause any harm to otters. A (dead) Slow Worm 
was recorded within 10 metres of the site in May 2022, along the eastern roadside along Highland 
Brow, possibly a road casualty. The application site supports habitat which is largely hostile to slow 
worms, so it is most likely that the slow worm population is associated with the land to the east of the 
site where the habitat is much more suitable for the species. However, slow worms could make use 
of the pond area and the boundary hedgerows on the site, including the hedgerow along Highland 
Brow which will need to be partly removed to facilitate access to the development. Slow worms could 
therefore be harmed during site clearance and construction work. Post-development, providing that 
hedgerows and the areas around the pond are retained or replaced, the more complex site which 
would result would be able to support slow worms. The species is often associated with urban areas 
and can use suburban gardens. To protect slow worms, it is recommend that a method statement is 
prepared giving details of the measures to be taken during vegetation clearance, groundworks and 
construction to avoid any possible harm to slow worms. Biodiversity enhancement measures 
proposed for the site must also include proposals which would be of benefit to slow worms. 
 

5.7.16 It is also advised that no tree felling, vegetation clearance or groundworks required to facilitate the 
scheme should be undertaken during the optimum time of year for bird nesting (March to August 
inclusive) unless nesting birds have been shown to be absent by a suitably qualified person. Trees 
which may need to be removed should be checked for the possible presence of bats prior to any tree 
works commencing. 

Page 24



 

Page 22 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

 
5.7.17 In relation to biodiversity net gain, the submission does not include a metric to measure the 

losses/gains to biodiversity which may be associated with the development. Such metrics are not 
compulsory, but they do provide an objective measure of whether a development can provide a net 
gain in biodiversity, as is strongly encouraged by the NPPF and by Local Policy. GMEU have 
advised that a metric should be used in this case to properly demonstrate losses and gains. They 
have gone on to say that the application will result in the loss of a relatively extensive area of a low 
value habitat (arable land) and proposes some habitat enhancements, including new grassland 
creation and new tree and shrub planting and advised that the site would benefit from the installation 
of bird nesting and bat roosting boxes. They have also advised that a comprehensive Landscape 
and Ecology Management Plan should be prepared for the development, which can be covered by 
condition. Policy DM44 sets out that there should, as a principle, be a net gain of biodiversity assets 
wherever possible but does not set out an amount or a requirement to measure this. As such, given 
the existing low value of the land, with the exception of the linear features, and the opportunities to 
provide enhancements within the site, it is considered that the lack of a detailed assessment of net 
gain would not be a sufficient reason to refuse the application.   
 

5.7.18 As set out above, it is considered that likely impacts to the environmentally designated sites cannot 
currently be ruled out due to potential impacts from the drainage of the development, particularly 
given that there has not been an acceptable drainage scheme submitted. In addition, there are 
contradictions within the submitted reports with regards to the removal of trees and hedgerows and it 
would appear that the scheme involves the removal of a hedgerow which provides important habitat 
and wildlife corridor for amphibians and reptiles in particular, but also other wildlife, and would 
therefore be likely to have an adverse impact on these species and the overall biodiversity of the 
site. There are also concerns regarding pressure that the development would place on important 
trees, for both biodiversity and amenity value, along the western boundary and it is considered that a 
greater buffer is required. The proposal is therefore currently not acceptable in terms of its likely 
impact on biodiversity and trees and is therefore contrary to both National and Local Plan policies. 
 

5.8 Affordable housing, housing standards and mix NPPF: paragraphs 62 and 63 and 78 (housing 
needs and affordable housing); Strategic Policies and Land Allocations (SPLA) DPD policy: SG1 
(Lancaster South Broad Location for Growth) Development Management (DM) DPD policies: DM1 
(Residential Development and Meeting Housing Needs), DM2 (Housing Standards) and DM3 (The 
Delivery of Affordable Housing). 
 

5.8.1 Policy DM3 sets out the requirements for affordable housing and that 30% affordable housing will be 
required on site on greenfield sites, for 15 units and over. It requires that the tenure is split into 
50/60% affordable/social rent and 50/40% intermediate tenure. However, since the plan was 
adopted, the Government has introduced a requirement for 25% of affordable homes to be provided 
as First Homes. These are homes are discounted by 30%, sold to first time buyers and secured by a 
S106 Agreement. Until such time the affordable housing tenure mix is amended in the local plan, the 
PPG provides a tenure split which will result as follows: 25% First Homes, 37.5% shared ownership 
and 37.5% social/affordable rented. The SHMA identifies the affordable housing need and table 4.1 
of the DMDPD provides an indicative mix as follows: 
 

Property Type Affordable % 

House (2 bed) 30 

House (3 bed) 20 

House (4+ bed) 5 

Bungalow 10 

Flat/apartment (may include 1 bedroom house) 35 
 

5.8.2 The submission sets out that 35 affordable units are proposed, although it lacks details in relation to 
the type, tenure and location within the site. This would equate to 30% affordable housing. In the 
most recent site plan, it appears that the sizes and house types for the affordable units have been 
set out as the list has been split into two sections, although it is not clear and clarification has been 
sought from the agent. The first list gives a total of 34, which is one less than the amount set out 
elsewhere in the submission. Working on the basis that this first list relates to the affordable units, 
the scheme proposes 16 two bedroom units (47%) and 18 three bedroom units (53%) and includes 
no bungalows of apartments. It would therefore fail to comply with the indicative mix set out above. 

Page 25



 

Page 23 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

 
5.8.3 Policy DM3 also requires that affordable housing is integrated in the design of development and 

policy DM1 promotes balanced communities. The Meeting Housing Need SPD explains this 
requirement and advises that affordable housing should be ‘pepper potted’ throughout a 
development in groups of no more and 3 or 4. Housing should be designed so that both the external 
appearance and associated space such as parking does not define the affordable homes. The 
application does not indicate which houses are intended to be provided as affordable homes. 
However, it appears that the majority are likely to be located together along a cul-de-sac with car 
parking in front. This layout does not integrate the affordable housing into the development but forms 
a large group resulting on an area which would result in segregation contrary to policy DM3. 
 

5.8.4 Policy DM1 seeks to ensure that new development promotes balanced communities and meets 
evidenced housing need in accordance with the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA). The 
SHMA identifies a need for a range of house sizes, including smaller homes, this is carried forward 
into table 4.1 of the DMDPD, as follows: 
 

Property Type Market % 

House (2 bed) 20 

House (3 bed) 35 

House (4+ bed) 25 

Bungalow 10 

Flat/apartment (may include 1 bedroom house) 10 
 

5.8.5 From the details contained on the site plan, it would appear that the open market houses would 
comprise 18 three bedroom units (22%) and 63 four bedroom units (78%) and there are no 
bungalows or apartments proposed. It is therefore considered that the proposal fails to provide an 
appropriate mix of dwellings, with a predominance of four bedroom units. 
 

5.8.6 Policy DM2 adopts the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS) for all new dwellings and 
requires that 20% of new dwellings meet Building Regulations Requirement (M4(2) in relation to 
accessible and adaptable Dwellings. Amended plans were received which changed some of the 
house types as it was queried that the details provided did not fully correspond to the submitted 
layout plan. Of those now currently proposed, none of the two or three bedroom units appear to meet 
the overall internal floor space required by NDSS. The largest one of these (Acacia) appears to be 
slightly small for the number of people. In addition, three of the four bedroom units (Cypress, 
Hawthorn and Walnut) also appear to fall below the overall space required for the number of people 
that could be accommodated, indicated by the size of the bedrooms (whether double or single). In 
addition, two of the larger four bedroom units appear to have double bedrooms that fall below what is 
required by the space standards (Hornbeam and Willow). Therefore, it appears that only two of the 
house types comply with the requirements of the NDSS (Foxglove and Hazel) and the submission   
does not confirm or provide the information necessary to determine if 20% of the new dwellings meet 
the M4(2) requirement. The dwelling designs are therefore contrary to the requirements within policy 
DM2. 
 

5.8.7 In addition to the Development management policies discussed above, one of the Growth Principles 
in policy SG1 relates to delivering a wide range of market and affordable housing, in terms of type 
and tenure to ensure that opportunities to live in the Garden Village are available to all sections of 
the community and contribute significantly to the creation of cohesive, balanced communities and 
thereby assist the district in meeting its evidenced housing needs within the Local Plan period. As 
set out above, the proposal fails to provide affordable and open market housing in line with the 
identified housing needs within the District, does not appropriately integrate the affordable housing 
into the development, fails to provide dwellings of an appropriate standard, compliant with the NDSS, 
and fails to demonstrate that 20% will meet the M4(2) requirement of being accessible and 
adaptable dwellings.  
 

5.9 Air Quality NPPF paragraphs 186 (Ground Conditions and Pollution); Strategic Policies and Land 
Allocations (SPLA) DPD policies: SG1 (Lancaster South Broad Location for Growth) and EN9 (Air 
Quality Management Areas); Development Management (DM) DPD policies: DM31 (Air quality 
management and Pollution) and DM57 (Health and Wellbeing) 
 

Page 26



 

Page 24 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

5.9.1 The crossroads within Galgate are designated as an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and the 
site is located approximately 600 metres from this. The road used to access the site joins the 
crossroads so there are potential implications from the proposed development. There is also the 
potential for the development to impact on the Lancaster City Centre AQMA. Policy DM31 sets out 
that all development proposals must demonstrate that they have sought to minimise the levels of air 
polluting emissions generated and adequately protect their new users, and existing users, from the 
effects of poor air quality. It goes on to say that any development which has the potential to, 
individually or cumulatively, contribute to increasing levels of air pollution, will be required to 
demonstrate how either on-site or off- site mitigation measures will be put in place to reduce the air 
quality impact. 
 

5.9.2 An air quality assessment has been submitted with the application. During construction, mitigation 
measures are recommended to reduce the risk of dust and particulate matter being generated and 
re-suspended. It sets out that, with implementation of the appropriate measures, no significant 
impacts are anticipated during the construction phase. It also concludes that the development is 
likely to have an insignificant impact on air quality at existing and proposed sensitive receptors once 
it is operational, such that the impacts can be considered insignificant. The Air Quality Officer has 
confirmed agreement with the broad conclusions of the air quality assessment. It is noted that the 
assessment indicates that around 212 additional light duty vehicle (LDV) trips would pass through 
the Galgate AQMA on a daily basis. The Air Quality Officer has set out that it would be anticipated 
that at least a similar amount would head towards Lancaster and potentially contribute to the impacts 
on the city centre/ Lancaster City Centre AQMA and these impacts have not been considered in the 
assessment. Air quality in Lancaster city centre is still indicated to be in breach of the annual mean 
objective for nitrogen dioxide. 
 

5.9.3 The Air Quality Officer has advised that, given the contributory air quality impacts on both the 
Galgate and Lancaster AQMAs from the proposal, a high level of mitigation should be provided. It is 
recommended that a 7KW electric vehicle charger should be provided for every dwelling unit but also 
suggested that measures are sought to facilitate the use of low emission approaches and could 
include: 

 operation of a low emissions car club at the development site; 

 provision of facilities and infrastructure to promote cycling and walking; 

 measures to promote the use of public transport e.g. free bus use for future development 
occupiers; 

 any other measures to reduce polluting emissions, particularly associated with transport. 
 
It is considered that measures to address air quality could be agreed through a planning condition or 
agreement. However, it should be acknowledged that additional facilities and infrastructure to 
promote cycling and walking would be limited without changes to the layout, in addition to changes 
to the wider highway network. 
 

5.10 Education and Health NPPF paragraphs: 93 and 95 (Services and School Places); Strategic 
Policies and Land Allocations (SPLA) DPD policies: SG1 (Lancaster South Broad Location for 
Growth), SG3 (Infrastructure Delivery for Growth in South Lancaster); Development Management 
(DM) DPD policies: DM57 (Health and Wellbeing) and DM58 (Infrastructure Delivery and Funding) 
 

5.10.1 Lancashire County Council Schools Planning Team have requested financial contributions for 26 
primary school places and 13 secondary school places on lack of infrastructure provision grounds. 
They have advised that the scale of the development means it is likely that the primary places 
required to mitigate the development will be provided at the new primary school (Land NE Bailrigg 
Lane) and secondary places required to mitigate the development will be provided at the proposed 
new secondary school site within the Garden Village. They have therefore applied a 'New Build Cost 
Per Place in line with LCC's Education Contribution Methodology and DfE guidance which equates 
to £554,918 for primary places and £335,972 for secondary places, although this could increase due 
to a number of applications that are pending decision. 
 

5.10.2 In addition to the above, Policy SG3 sets out infrastructure that would be required to support 
development in this area, covered by Policy SG1. This includes the delivery of sufficient education 
places at both a primary and secondary school. The Schools Planning Team has set out that a 
primary and secondary school site requirement has been identified as part of the Local Plan where 
the local planning authority have identified a number of housing developments which should be 

Page 27



 

Page 25 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

treated collectively as a strategic site. Where a number of small developments are expected to come 
forward in an area with an aggregated requirement for a new school or additional school land, 
Lancashire County Council would expect the LPA to set out their expectations for strategic sites in 
their Local Plan and assist in the negotiations to secure a school site or additional school land to 
accommodate the collective impact of the applications. Where the demand is generated by more 
than one development or phase, it may be that one developer would be required to provide the 
school land to address the collective demand. This would require applicants to provide a contribution 
towards the cost of the school site land, proportionate to the size of their development. Lancashire 
County Council would seek to work with the LPA to ensure that such equalisation arrangements are 
established prior to the approval of any of the developments affected to ensure that the development 
'hosting' a new school or providing additional school land is not disadvantaged. 
 

5.10.3 The Schools Planning Team have advised that, as planning applications have been submitted prior 
to the adoption of the AAP there needs to be a clear position on school land provision. There is 
currently no detail provided within the application regarding how either school site will be secured 
and provided. Without confirmation of the mechanism for the provision of the required school land it 
is not clear that this development is sustainable and the Schools planning team have objected to the 
proposal.  Policy SG1 is clear that development would only be permitted in advance of the AAP if it 
would be no prejudice to the delivery of the wider Garden Village, including its infrastructure 
requirement. Given that there is currently no mechanism to secure a school site or contributions 
towards this, as it would be investigated in more detail through the AAP, the current proposal would 
therefore fail to comply with this requirement of Policy SG1 as it would potentially undermine the 
delivery of the school infrastructure required to support development in this area, covered by policy 
SG3. 
 

5.10.4 The response from the NHS sets out that the proposal will generate approximately 355 new patient 
registrations based on average household size of 2.4. The site falls within the catchment area of 
Lancaster Medical Practice (Galgate HC) and they have advised that this need can only be met 
through the development of a new practice premises in order to ensure sustainable general practice. 
However, the response goes on to say that the growth generated from this proposed development 
would not trigger consideration of the commissioning of a new general practice but would trigger a 
requirement to support the practice to understand how the growth in the population would be 
accommodated and therefore premises options and a figure of £81,771 has been requested. 
However, the response also sets out that the physical constraints of the existing site means that the 
current premises cannot be extended and opportunities to re-configure existing space to 
accommodate current growth have already been undertaken. Therefore, it is not clear how the 
requested contribution would be used and, with a lack of evidence to support this request, it is 
considered that it fails to meet the requirements of the CIL regulation tests and could not therefore 
be requested at this time. 
 

5.11 Sustainable Design and Renewable Energy NPPF paragraphs: 126 (Achieving Well-Designed 
Places) and 154 -155 and 157 (Planning for Climate Change); Strategic Policies and Land 
Allocations (SPLA) DPD policies: SG1 (Lancaster South Broad Location for Growth); Development 
Management (DM) DPD policies: DM29 (Key Design Principles), DM30 (Sustainable Design) and 
DM53 (Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Generation) 
 

5.11.1 In the context of the climate change emergency that was declared by Lancaster City Council in 
January 2019, the effects of climate change arising from new/ additional development in the District 
and the possible associated mitigation measures will be a significant consideration in the 
assessment of the proposals.  The Council is committed to reducing its own carbon emissions to net 
zero by 2030 while supporting the district in reaching net zero within the same time frame. Buildings 
delivered today must not only contribute to mitigating emissions, they must also be adaptable to the 
impacts of the climate crisis and support resilient communities. One of the Key Growth Principles, 
set out in Policy SG1, relates to taking proper account of the need to design new development to 
minimise its contribution to, and the impacts of, Climate Change and to ensure that new 
development is resilient and adaptable to the effects of Climate Change. 
 

5.11.2 The development as proposed will not be close to net zero for regulated energy associated CO2e 
emissions or embodied carbon. The proposal will therefore contribute to worsening carbon 
emissions in the district not only at the point of build but also, given the nature of the energy strategy, 
the buildings will continue to contribute to CO2e emissions over the lifetime of the buildings. The 

Page 28



 

Page 26 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

Council would welcome the design of the build to facilitate the transition to net zero and for it to be 
outlined how this could be achieved at the site even if the buildings are not net zero from the 
beginning.  
 

5.11.3 One of the primary areas for emissions reductions for development in supporting the transition to net 
zero is in building to high fabric standards and supplying the new buildings with renewable and low 
carbon energy. This is highlighted in the Local Plan in policies DM29: Key Design Principles and 
DM30: Sustainable Design and supported by PAN9 – Energy Efficiency in new Development 
Planning Advisory Note.  These policies and Planning Advice Note have not been applied in the 
design of the development to the extent where they can be said to be incorporated to their fullest.   
DM30: Sustainable Design clearly outlines expectations for sustainable development. The policy 
outlines: 

 Measures to reduce energy consumption and carbon dioxide emissions, and water 
consumption;  

 Opportunities for energy supply from on-site, decentralised, renewable or low carbon energy 
systems;  

 Opportunities to contribute to local and community-led energy initiatives;  

 Account of landform, layout, building orientation, massing and landscaping to minimise 
energy, water consumption and water efficiency measures; 

 Use of materials that reduce energy demand (for example, insulation) and increase the 
energy efficiency of the building/development; and 

 The reuse of existing resources (including the conversion of existing buildings) where this 
would be 'fit for purpose'. 

 
5.11.4 The proposed development will include gas boilers.  With the phase out of gas boilers across the 

UK, the homes will need to be retrofitted for renewable/low carbon thermal energy provision within 
the building’s lifespans. The supporting text to Policy DM53 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 
Generation (para 13.13) of the adopted Local Plan encourages developments to connect to a heat 
network or be heat network ready. Related to the thermal energy provision of the properties, Policy 
T3: Lancaster Canal VIII outlines that proposals should “Seek to maximise opportunities for reducing 
carbon emissions and building resilience, in particular investigating the potential for using the canal 
in relation to heating and cooling within new development.”  The Energy Statement does not address 
these issues. This may be a valuable addition to the development, particularly in light that the 
proposed development will be fitted with gas boilers, meaning the homes may be expensive to 
retrofit with heat pumps following gas boiler phase out from 2035. The proposed footprint of many of 
the properties may mean that there is not sufficient space to accommodate for the additional water 
tanks, pipework and fittings required with heat pumps making the properties also potentially 
technically difficult to retrofit particularly with a low temperature heating system. This may make 
connection to a district heating system necessary. The Council however does welcome that the 
proposed heating is a wet heating system.   
 

5.11.5 In relation to renewable energy, and particularly Policy DM30, it is not clear how they will be 
incorporated, if at all. It is also not clear if the design of the build is such that they can be supported 
to allow for future fitting by homeowners should it be the case that renewable energy provision is not 
envisioned as being included as part of the build. It is not clear if EV charging points are proposed 
although they could be covered by a condition and are now required by Building Regulations. The 
application outlines that the building will result in a 20.0% reduction in CO2 against Part L 2013 of 
the Building Regulations. However, in terms of meeting the aims of reaching net zero in less than 
eight years, in line with net zero ambitions of the District, it would be welcome to have a clear 
decarbonisation pathway for the buildings should they not be net zero from day one.  The application 
does not address emissions reductions in terms of full operational emissions of the site. Nor is it 
clear if embodied carbon and life cycle emissions have been taken into account and if the applicant 
has sought to reduce them. The 2021 Building Regulations are now in force which will require 
additional energy efficiency measures, ventilation and overheating measures. The Energy Statement 
should therefore be updated to meet these requirements as a minimum and provide for 
enhancements beyond the regulations. The 2021 Building Regulations are likely to result in changes 
to design and these should also be addressed within the scheme. 
 

5.11.6 It is acknowledged that Policy DM30 only requires high standards of design to be encouraged, 
however, this is also a key consideration of the Broad Location for Growth. It is therefore expected 
that any development within this would ensure that development is designed to minimise its 

Page 29



 

Page 27 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

contribution to climate change. As set out above, the current scheme fails to do this. It is considered 
that this links to the overall design concerns as set out in the separate section above, in addition to 
the requirements for development if to come forward within the Broad Location for Growth prior to 
the adoption of the AAP. 

  
5.12 Mineral safeguarding NPPF paragraphs: 219-204 (Facilitating the Sustainable use of Minerals); 

Joint Lancashire Minerals and Waste Local Plan Policy: M2 (Safeguarding Minerals) 
 

5.12.1 The site is partly located within a Mineral Safeguarding Area as identified by Lancashire County 
Council and considered within the Joint Lancashire Minerals and Waste Local Plan. Policy M2 sets 
out that planning permission will not be supported for any form of development that is incompatible 
with working the minerals, unless the applicant can demonstrate that: 

 The mineral concerned is no longer of any value or has been fully extracted. 

 The full extent of the mineral can be extracted satisfactorily prior to the incompatible 
development taking place. 

 The incompatible development is of a temporary nature and can be completed and the site 
returned to its original condition prior to the minerals being worked. 

 There is an overarching need for the incompatible development that outweighs the need to 
avoid the sterilisation of the mineral resource 

 That prior extraction of minerals is not feasible due to the depth of the deposit. 

 Extraction would lead to land stability problems. 
 

5.12.2 The submission includes a desk-based mineral assessment report. This sets out that a review of the 
site history has confirmed that the site has remained in agricultural usage throughout its entire 
history. Clay pits were noted along the northern boundary of the site and within the north eastern 
corner of the site although this pit was never formally noted to be a clay pit. The clay pit located 
along the northern boundary was later utilised as a pond. The western portion of the site is located 
within a designated mineral safeguarding area and relates to sand and gravel deposits. The site is 
located within a MSA that relates to shallow sand and gravel deposits. A desk study and intrusive 
investigation have confirmed historical extraction within the north of the site at the beginning of the 
20th century, however, this relates to the former clay pits and there is no evidence for the extraction 
of the granular terrace and sub-alluvial deposits. The report concludes that intrusive investigations 
have proven that no superficial deposits have been identified that may have significant economic 
value. And that the development would not impact or sterilise of mineral deposits of economic value. 

 
6.0 Conclusion and Planning Balance 

 
6.1 The site is located within the Broad Area of Growth within the Local Plan in relation to the Garden 

Village. The site is not allocated for housing and formal land allocations will only be known once the 
Area Action Plan for Lancaster South is adopted.  As this is currently being prepared, Policy SG1 
envisages the submission of planning applications by applicants prior to the Area Action Plan.  The 
Policy sets out criteria for any applications that are submitted during this pre-Area Action plan period. 
SG1 contains 15 Key Growth Principles that all development should adhere to.  In addition to these, 
SG1 also says the following: 
 
“Development within the broad location for growth in advance of the Lancaster South Area Action 
Plan DPD will be permitted provided that:  

1. There would be no prejudice to the delivery of the wider Bailrigg Garden Village (including its 
infrastructure requirements) and would not undermine the integrated and co-ordinated 
approach to the wider Bailrigg Garden Village development; and  

2. That the development would conform with and further the Key Growth Principles described in 
Policy SG1; and  

3. That the opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been fully considered and that 
the residual impacts upon the transport network will not be severe”. 
 

6.2 All three of these caveats represent a ‘high bar’ that need to be satisfied if development is to be 
considered favourably.  The high bar is worded this way to ensure that no development is able to 
avoid contributing to infrastructure and be of a manner that would not be conducive to the design 
principles that have been established in Lancaster South. In addition to SG1, Policy SG3 provides 
additional weight.  It says that the Council “will not permit piecemeal development in this area which 
does not seek to address matters of strategic infrastructure in accordance with the expectations of 

Page 30



 

Page 28 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

Policy SG1 of this DPD” 
 

6.3 Whilst the development is located adjacent the existing edge of Galgate, it does raise significant 
concerns in relation the impact on the local highway network and flood risk/ drainage in particular. 
The impacts on the highway network in particular are unlikely to be resolvable given the existing 
highway capacity issues within Galgate which will be exacerbated by the traffic associated with the 
proposed development. Highway implications and sustainable transport are one of the key 
considerations of Policies SG1 and SG3  
 

6.4 Notwithstanding the 5-year land supply position, which remains a significant consideration until the 
Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill reaches a far-more advanced stage, the proposal is considered 
to be of a very poor in form and layout, will have a detrimental impact on residential amenity, 
biodiversity and the highway network, fails to provide appropriate cycling and pedestrian links, does 
not adequately address flooding and drainage and fails to provide an appropriate housing mix to an 
appropriate standard. It also fails to adequately address school infrastructure requirements. 
Particularly given the high bar in SG1 and the infrastructure requirements in SG3, it is considered 
that the benefits provided by the new dwellings would be significantly outweighed by the harm that 
would be caused, even applying a tilted balance towards the housing development 

 
Recommendation 
 

That Planning Permission BE REFUSED for the following reasons: 

 
1. The site is located within the Broad Area of Growth within the Local Plan in relation to the Garden 

Village. The site is not allocated for housing and formal land allocations will only be known once the 
Area Action Plan for Lancaster South is adopted. The proposal fails to satisfy the criteria which allows 
for development to be brought forward in advance of the AAP, in particular, it fails to comply with all the 
identified Growth Principles and is likely to undermine delivery of the wider Garden Village. As such, 
the proposal is contrary to Policies SG1 and SG3 of the Strategic Policies and Land Allocations 
Development Plan Document. 
 

2. The proposal would have a severe impact on the local highway network as a result of the increased 
traffic flows in an area that currently experiences capacity issues and high levels of congestion and is 
also constrained by on street parking. The scheme also provides poor permeability for pedestrians and 
fails to provide appropriate and safe cycle linkages to Galgate, in particular, or improvements to the 
wider cycle network. The submission also fails to provide sufficient information to allow the impact on 
the Strategic Road Network to be fully considered. The proposal is therefore contrary to the aims and 
objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework, in particular Section 9, Policies SP10, SG1 and 
SG3 of the Strategic Policies and Land Allocations Development Plan Document and Policies, DM57, 
DM60, DM61 and DM63 of the Review of the Development Management Development Plan 
Document. 
 

3. The submission fails to fully assess the flood risk at the site, demonstrate how known flooding 
problems would be satisfactorily managed and how the proposal would not result in a flood risk within 
or outside the development, locate the most vulnerable development in area at lowest flood risk, 
demonstrate that residual risks can be managed and consider how people will be kept safe from the 
identified flood hazards, including consideration of safe access and egress routes. The proposal is 
therefore contrary to the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework, in particular 
Section 14, Policies SP8 and SG1 of the Strategic Policies and Land Allocations Development Plan 
Document and Policies DM33 and DM34 of the Review of the Development Management Development 
Plan Document. 
 

4. The submission fails to provide sufficient information to fully assess the impact of the development on 
the nearby ecologically designated sites. In particular, Natural England have identified a hydrological 
connection from the development site to Morecambe Bay and, as an acceptable drainage scheme has 
not been submitted, likely significant effects cannot be ruled out at this stage. In addition, the scheme 
appears to involve the removal of a hedgerow which provides important habitat and wildlife corridor for 
amphibians and reptiles in particular and would therefore be likely to have an adverse impact on these 
species and the overall biodiversity of the site. There are also concerns regarding pressure that the 
development would place on important trees, for both biodiversity and amenity value, along the 
western boundary. As a result, the proposal is contrary to the aims and objectives of the National 

Page 31



 

Page 29 of 29 
22/00342/FUL 

 CODE 

 

Planning Policy Framework, in particular Section 15, Policies SP8, SG1 and EN7 of the Strategic 
Policies and Land Allocations Development Plan Document and Policies DM44 and DM45 of the 
Review of the Development Management Development Plan Document.  
 

5. The proposal fails to create a high-quality design, including sustainable design and overall sense of 
place, and would result in a cramped form of development that would have a detrimental impact on the 
character and appearance of the landscape and would contradict the aims and objectives of the Broad 
Location of Growth to provide a high quality self-contained garden village. The submission also fails to 
demonstrate how appropriate open space would be provided and would be integrated with open space 
in the area. As such, the proposal fails to comply with the National Planning Policy Framework, in 
particular Sections 8,12, 14 and 15, Policies SP8, SG1 and T3 of the Strategic Policies and Land 
Allocations Development Plan Document and Policies DM27, DM29, DM30, DM46 and DM57 of the 
Review of the Development Management Development Plan Document. 
 

6. As a result of the close proximity of the proposed development to existing residential properties, it 
would have a detrimental impact on the residential amenity and living conditions of the occupants of 
those properties. As such, the proposal is contrary to the aims and objectives of the National Planning 
Policy Framework, in particular Section 12, and Policy DM29 of the Review of the Development 
Management Development Plan Document. 
 

7. The proposal fails to provide affordable and open market housing in line with the identified housing 
needs within the District, does not appropriately integrate the affordable housing into the development, 
fails to provide dwellings of an appropriate standard, compliant with the NDSS, and fails to 
demonstrate that 20% will meet the M4(2) requirement of being accessible and adaptable dwellings. As 
a result, the proposal is contrary to the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework, 
in particular Section 5, Policy SG1 of the Strategic Policies and Land Allocations Development Plan 
Document and Policies DM1, DM2 and DM3 of the Review of the Development Management 
Development Plan Document. 
 

8. The submission fails to adequately address infrastructure requirements within the Broad Area of 
Growth, in particular relation to the provision of land for two new schools in the area and how this 
development would contribute to this to ensure that it is delivered to support the wider proposals which 
are planned in the area. The proposal would potentially undermine the delivery of the school 
infrastructure required to support development in this area. It is therefore contrary to the aims and 
objectives of the NPPF, in particular section 8, Policies SG1 and SG3 of the Strategic Policies and 
Land Allocations Development Plan Document and Policies DM57 DM58. 
 

 
Article 35, Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 
 
In accordance with the above legislation, the City Council can confirm that it takes a positive and proactive 
approach to development proposals, in the interests of delivering sustainable development.  As part of this 
approach the Council offers a pre-application service, aimed at positively influencing development 
proposals.  Regrettably the applicant has failed to take advantage of this service and the resulting proposal 
is unacceptable for the reasons prescribed in this report. The applicant is encouraged to utilise the pre-
application service prior to the submission of any future planning applications, in order to engage with the 
local planning authority to attempt to resolve the reasons for refusal. 
 
Background Papers 
None  
 

Page 32



 

Page 1 of 6 
21/01186/FUL 

 CODE 

 

 
 

Agenda Item A6 

Application Number 22/00897/FUL 

Proposal 

Retrospective application for the erection of 2m fencing to roadside 
boundary with pedestrian access gate, a vehicular access barrier and 
the installation of 2 electric vehicle charging points 
 

Application site 

Car Park 
Victoria Terrace 
Glasson Dock 
Lancashire 

Applicant Lancaster Port Commission 

Agent Mr Alban Cassidy 

Case Officer Ms Charlotte Greenhow 

Departure No 

Summary of Recommendation 

 

Approval 

 

 
 
(i) Procedural Matters 

 
This form of development would normally be dealt with under the Scheme of Delegation. However, 
the application was called in by Councillor Sally Maddocks who requested the application to be 
determined by the Planning Regulatory Committee. 
 

1.0 Application Site and Setting  
 

1.1 The application site relates to an area of hardstanding located on the south-east side of Glasson 
Dock at the end of Victoria Terrace. The area of hardstanding provides 17 off street parking spaces 
and is within the ownership of the Lancaster Port Commission. It is bounded by the Dock to the west, 
employment premises to the north, residential properties to the east, and an existing tree line and 
timber fence to the south with open space beyond. The site is located within Glasson Dock 
Conservation Area and forms part of the Glasson Dock Scheduled Ancient Monument. The site is 
within the designated Port boundary and is allocated as an Established Employment Area in the 
Local Plan. 
  

 
2.0 Proposal 

 
2.1 
 
 
 

The application seeks retrospective planning permission for the erection of 2m fencing to the 
roadside boundary with pedestrian access gate, a vehicular access barrier and the installation of 2 
electric vehicle charging points.  

2.2 The proposed fencing is located along the eastern boundary of the site and comprises of a 2m high 
green steel post and v-mesh welded security fencing. The dock side remains open. The vehicular 
access barrier will be set approximately 6.5m in from the roadside.   
 

Page 33 Agenda Item 6



 

Page 2 of 6 
21/01186/FUL 

 CODE 

 

2.3 Whilst shown on the proposed plans, it was noted that the access barrier had been removed at the 
time of the site visit. The agent has confirmed (via email dated: 14.09.2022) that the previous barrier 
proved inept, and the aim is to install a more robust barrier system of the type shown.  
 

 
3.0 Site History 

 
3.1 No previous applications relating to this site have been received by the Local Planning Authority.   
 
 
4.0 Consultation Responses 

 
4.1 The following responses have been received from statutory and internal consultees: 
 

Consultee Response 

Parish Council Object. Unclear if the fencing is located on a scheduled monument and has been 
erected without scheduled monument consent. The fencing does not enhance the 
scheduled monument. Questions whether any analysis has been done on the need 
for this fenced car park as residents have been excluded and forcibly moved. There 
is little parking for residents within Glasson Dock. Have also raised is the installation 
of electric charging points green washing the proposal? Double yellow lines have 
been painted which have no legal status and area not enforceable.  
  

County Highways No objections. The proposals should have a negligible impact on highway safety 
and highway capacity within the immediate vicinity of the site. The proposed vehicle 
and pedestrian access arrangements, position and type of fencing and available 
sightlines are acceptable to the Highway Authority. 

 
Environmental Health No objections. No significant environmental health implications were noted, and we 

offer no adverse comments or advice. 
 

Conservation Officer Object, the principal of a fence and coded barrier is acceptable however the current 
is inappropriate and does not sustain or enhance the character and appearance of 
the conservation area. 
 

National Amenities 
Societies 

No response. 

Historic England No objection on heritage grounds. The development is consistent with the 
continuing use of the scheduled monument as a small-scale working port, and the 
materials proposed similar to those used elsewhere around the site. Scheduled 
Monument Consent has already been obtained for the development.  
 

Ancient Monuments 
Society 

No response. 

Canal and Rivers Trust Advice provided. We ask the Council to satisfy itself that separate Scheduled 
Ancient Monument Consent is not required. Questions whether such security fencing 
is justified in such a sensitive area and whether an alternative lower fence (e.g. 
timber post and rail fencing) would be more appropriate.  
 

HSE Do not advise against. 
 

 
4.2 Local Councillor representation: 

 
- The fence significantly detracts from the Ancient Monument Site and Conservation Area 
- The car park used to be a shared amenity and in enclosing it, there has been a knock-on 

effect with parking issues 
- Enclosing the area has resulted in lorries queuing to get into the quay, restricts visibility, 

and causes additional noise and fumes.  

Page 34



 

Page 3 of 6 
21/01186/FUL 

 CODE 

 

- The electric barrier was bright red illuminated and shone all night. 
- There is a large, illuminated sign of the weighbridge that shines brightly all night long 
- The anchor that belonged to the King Orry (a legendary village shop) and has been 

enclosed and the Glasson Action Partnership cannot access it to maintain it. 
- There are unenforceable double yellow lines painted along the fence. 

 
 

4.3 Public representations - Two letters of objection have been received. These are summarised as 
follows: 
 

- It is an eyesore and out of keeping with the Conservation Area 
- Completed underhand without consultation to stakeholders nearby 
- The car park is a much-needed community carpark for village residents and visitors  
- The area provided views across the Dock Side 
- Lorries prove difficult to pass 
- The Port Commission have disregarded the needs of the village and opted for purely financial 

reasons.  
 

5.0 
 

Analysis 

5.1 The key considerations in the assessment of this application are: 
 

 Principle of development 

 Impact on visual amenity and heritage assets 

 Highway safety 

 Other matters 
 

5.2 Principle of development (NPPF Section 2 (Achieving Sustainable Development), Policies DM14 
(Proposals involving Employment and Premises) and DM47 (Economic Development in Rural Areas) 
of the Development Management DPD, and Policy EC1 (Established Employment Areas) of the 
Strategic Policies and Land Allocations DPD.  
 

5.2.1 The submitted supporting statement states that the retrospective fencing is to provide a secure 
off-street facility for employees of Lancaster Port and associated companies. The works will 
incorporate 2 no. electric vehicle charging points to meet local requirements and the increasing 
demand for such infrastructure. The existing 17 spaces will be retained. The agent has 
confirmed (via email dated: 15.09.2022) that the intention is that there would be an access 
code for the car park given to authorised users and this would regularly change at set periods 
or if there was ever a security breach. Visitors to the site will push the button at the entrance of 
the car park and the barrier would automatically call the harbour master or the offices who will 
either admit visitors or redirect is access isn’t granted. The intention is to make all of the 
operational port secure, in accordance with Government requirements.  
 

5.2.2 Concerns have been raised within the letters of objection in regard to loss of a community asset and 
lack of regard for village needs. However, whilst these comments have been noted, the car park has 
always been within the private ownership of the Port Commission and has not been allocated for 
public use. Whilst it is noted that the car park was previously open for members of the public to freely 
use, this was never on an official basis, and has always been specified as a visitor’s car park for the 
port. It is therefore not considered that the secure car parking facility results in the loss of a 
designated community asset, nor could it be considered as such. It is noted that a large public car 
park is located approximately 65m away.  
 

5.2.3 The site is designated as an Established Employment Site, whereby land should be used for 
employment purposes and will be protected from non-employment generating uses for their 
economic value and contribution to the wider rural economy of the district. In terms of this, given that 
the proposal seeks to increase security and availability of the car park for Port Commission staff and 
visitors, the principle of the development is considered acceptable.  
 

5.3  Impact on visual amenity and heritage assets (NPPF Section 12 (Achieving Well Designed Places) 
and Section 15 (Conserving and enhancing the Historic Environment), Policies DM29 (Key Design 
Principles), DM38 (Development affecting Conservation Areas), DM39 (The Setting of Designated 

Page 35



 

Page 4 of 6 
21/01186/FUL 

 CODE 

 

Heritage Assets), DM41 (Development affecting Non-Designated Heritage or their Settings), DM42 
(Archaeology) of the Development Management DPD. 
 

5.3.1 
 
 
 
 

The site is located within Glasson Dock Conservation Area and forms part of the Glasson Dock 
Scheduled Ancient Monument. As per Historic England’s Official List Entry (noted within the Councils 
Glasson Dock Conservation Appraisal), the Scheduled area includes the wet dock, constructed in 
1800, the E pier (c.1785), the pier head and the Harbour Masters Offices (1789), the graving dock 
(1800), and the lock and entrance to the canal basin (1824). The whole complex constitutes a rare 
surviving example of the late C18th and C19th commercial dockyard.  
 

5.3.2 The Councils Conservation Appraisal of the area sets out how Glasson Dock has evolved historically 
and highlights the key contributors to the architectural quality and character of the place. Within this, 
it is acknowledged that there has been some unsympathetic development concentrated around the 
dock area including some large, corrugated metal warehouses and flat roof cafes south-west of the 
dock. Overall, there still remains an overriding historic impression through retention of buildings, but 
modern developments and alterations to detailing have undermined this significance. 
 

5.3.3 The proposed secure car park is located within the allocated Established Employment Site, adjacent 
to the dockside, and in close proximity to several industrial units. As such, whilst the site also forms 
part of Glasson Dock Conservation Area and sits in close proximity to several Non-Designated 
Heritage Assets (along Victoria Terrace), the proposed fencing does not appear out of place within 
this mainly industrial port setting. Historic England have also been consulted on this scheme and 
have raised no objections, citing that the development is consistent with the continuing use of the 
scheduled monument as a small-scale working port, and the materials proposed are similar to those 
used elsewhere around the site. In addition, any impact on archaeological deposits relating to the 
historic use of the port will be minimal.  
 

5.3.4 The Councils Conservation Officer has also been consulted on the scheme and has raised concerns 
over the style and appearance of the fencing. Whilst the principle of a fence and coded barrier is 
acceptable in principle, it is considered that a timber post and rail fence or well detailed bollards with 
chains (similar to those on the dock side of the car park) would be more acceptable.  
 

5.3.5 However, whilst these comments have been noted, consideration has been given to the location of 
the car parking area (within the Established Employment Area) and variety of different fencing within 
the vicinity. It is accepted that low timber fencing surrounds the area of open grass to the immediate 
east, however there are instances of 2m high metal open fencing within the port area itself. As such, 
the retrospective green steel post and v-mesh welded security fencing is not considered to appear 
out of place or result in any significant harm to the character or appearance of the Conservation 
Area.  
 

5.3.6 Consequently, whilst the proposed fencing to create a secure car parking area is industrial in 
appearance and typically does not lend itself to the setting of a Conservation Area, given the siting of 
the development within the Established Employment Site and adjacent to modern industrial 
developments, it is not considered to result in any significant harm to the visual amenity of the area 
of historic character of the site. The proposal is therefore considered acceptable in terms of impact 
on visual amenity and impact on surrounding heritage assets.  
 
 

5.4 Highway safety (NPPF Section 9 (Promoting sustainable transport); Policy DM61 (Walking and 
Cycling) of the Development Management DPD. 
 

5.4.1 
 
 
 

As mentioned above, the car parking area was formerly open and used freely by members of the 
public. The retrospective fencing has therefore put an end to this arrangement causing residents and 
visitors to park elsewhere. However, whilst this adds pressure to the existing on-street facilities, it is 
noted that many nearby residents (along Victoria Terrace) benefit from car parking spaces to the 
rear of their properties and parking for visitors is available on-street to the front on a restricted 1-hour 
basis. There is also a large public car park located approximately 65m away to the east. As such, 
whilst concerns relating to parking pressures have been noted, given that this is private land for the 
use of staff and visitors of the port only, it is not (and should never have been) in use for resident 
parking. 
 

Page 36



 

Page 5 of 6 
21/01186/FUL 

 CODE 

 

5.4.2 County Highways have been consulted on this application and have raised no concerns. It is 
considered that the proposals should have a negligible impact on highway safety and highway 
capacity within the immediate vicinity of the site. The proposed vehicle and pedestrian access 
arrangements, position, type of fencing and available sightlines is acceptable to the Highway 
Authority. 
 

5.5 Other matters 

5.5.1 
 
 
 

The letter received by the Local Councillor made comments on the illuminated electric barrier, 
although this had been removed at the time of the site visit and so the level of illumination could not 
be assessed. This was relayed to the agent, and it was suggested that there are some safety 
benefits to some low-level lighting. However, it was agreed that further details of the barrier and 
proposed lighting could be added as a condition, to ensure that there would be no adverse effects on 
residential amenity.  
 

5.5.2 In addition to this, concerns have been raised over the historic anchor within the site which has now 
been enclosed by the security fencing. This has previously been maintained by the Glasson Dock 
Partnership who are now unable to access the site to maintain it. Again, this was relayed to the 
agent, and it was stated that the Port commission would be responsible for its future maintenance in 
the short term. In any case, the maintenance of the anchor is considered to be a private matter 
between the Port commission and Glasson Action Partnership group and not a material planning 
consideration in the determination of this application. Both parties should communicate with each 
other in order to reach a resolution for the maintenance of the anchor going forward.  
 
 

 
6.0 Conclusion and Planning Balance 

 
6.1 In conclusion the retrospective 2m fencing with pedestrian access gate, vehicular access barrier and 

2 electric vehicle charging points is considered to comply with both local and national planning 
policies. While located within Glasson Dock Conservation Area and in close proximity to several 
Non-Designated Heritage Assets, consideration has been given to the setting of the development 
within the Established Employment Area of Glasson Dock and adjacent to the built-up industrial port 
area. As such, the retrospective development is not considered to result in any significant harm to 
the character, appearance or significance of the heritage assets to a degree which could warrant 
refusal. Furthermore, the principle of securing the site for the use of staff and visitors of the port is 
acceptable and there are no significant issues in terms of highway safety. The development is 
therefore in accordance with Policies DM14, DM29, DM38, DM39, DM41, DM42, DM47 and DM61 of 
the Development Management DPD, Policy EC1 of the Strategic Policies and Land Allocations DPD, 
and Sections 2, 9, 12 and 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 
Recommendation 
 
That Planning Permission BE GRANTED subject to the following conditions: 
 

Condition no. Description Type 

1 Development in accordance with approved plans Control 

 
2 

 
Notwithstanding the details indicated on the approved 

plans, prior to its installation details of the electric barrier 
including any illumination shall be submitted to, and 

approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall then be constructed in accordance with 

the approved details, and retained as such at all times 
thereafter.  

 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area. 

 

 
Pre-commencement 

 

 

Page 37



 

Page 6 of 6 
21/01186/FUL 

 CODE 

 

Article 35, Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 
 
Lancaster City Council has made the recommendation in a positive and proactive way to foster the delivery 
of sustainable development, working proactively with the applicant to secure development that improves the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. The recommendation has been taken having 
had regard to the impact of development, and in particular to the relevant policies contained in the 
Development Plan, as presented in full in the officer report, and to all relevant material planning 
considerations, including the National Planning Policy Framework, National Planning Practice Guidance and 
relevant Supplementary Planning Documents/ Guidance. 
 
 
Background Papers 
  
None.  
 
 
 

Page 38



 

Page 1 of 3 
21/01186/FUL 

 CODE 

 

 
 

Agenda Item A7 

Application Number 22/01054/FUL 

Proposal 

 
Demolition of existing outbuildings/stores, erection of a part single, 
part two storey rear/side extension and construction of external ramp 
access 
 

Application site 

 
73 Bowland Road 
Heysham 
Morecambe 
Lancashire 
LA3 2EW 
 

Applicant Mr Tom Greenwood 

Agent Mr Chris Potts 

Case Officer Ms Charlotte Greenhow 

Departure No 

Summary of Recommendation 

 

Approval 

 

 
 
(i) Procedural Matters 

 
This form of development would normally be dealt with under the Scheme of Delegation. However, 
as this is a Council owned property, the application must be determined by the Planning Regulatory 
Committee. 
 
 

1.0 Application Site and Setting  
 

1.1 The application site relates to a two-storey, end of terrace residential property located at 73 Bowland 
Road, Heysham. The property comprises of a rendered exterior under a tiled pitched roof. The main 
private amenity space is located to the rear in the form of a moderately sixed private garden. The 
front garden has been adapted to include an access ramp. Parking is available on-street only. The 
surrounding area is residential in character with neighbouring properties of similar style, age, and 
design. 
 

 
2.0 Proposal 

 
2.1 
 
 
 

Planning permission is sought for the demolition of existing outbuildings/stores, erection of a part 
single, part two storey rear/side extension and construction of external ramp access. 
 

2.2 The proposed single storey side/rear extension will have a total depth 8.9m (from side to rear), a 

Page 39 Agenda Item 7



 

Page 2 of 3 
21/01186/FUL 

 CODE 

 

maximum width of 6.4m, will project from the rear elevation by 4.5m, and will have a total height of 
3m to the proposed flat roof. The proposed first floor side extension will measure approximately 4.4m 
in depth, 1.5m in width and will feature a pitched roof with a total height of approximately 6.65m. The 
proposed access ramp will extend from the front gate down the side of the property.  

 
3.0 Site History 

 
3.1 No previous planning applications relating to this site have been received by the Local Planning 

Authority.   
 
 
4.0 Consultation Responses 

 
4.1 The following responses have been received from statutory and internal consultees: 

 
 

Consultee Response 

County Highways No objection, the proposals should have a negligible impact on highway safety and 
highway capacity within the immediate vicinity of the site. 

Property Services No response 

Parish Council No response 

 
4.2 One letter of objection has been received in regard to current noise and disruption at this property.  

Any issues of this type should be reported to the Councils Environmental Health team for further 
investigation.  
 

5.0 
 

Analysis 

5.1 The key considerations in the assessment of this application are: 
 

 Impact on residential amenity 

 Design 
 

5.2 Impact on residential amenity (NPPF Section 12 Achieving Sustainable Development, Policy DM29 
of the Development Management DPD) 
 

5.2.1 The proposed extensions will allow for utility, shower room, and dining room at the ground floor 
level and for a replacement lift which will provide access up to the first-floor level. The 
application has been accompanied by letter from the Paediatric Occupational Therapist who 
represents the two children with registered disabilities at this address. It is stated that 
adaptions are required to provide a safe environment for their needs to be met.  
 

5.2.2 It is noted that the property already benefits from a lift within the living room which provides first 
floor access into the first-floor master bedroom. During the site visit, the case officer accepted 
that this current lift is poorly placed and impacts upon the family’s living and bedroom space. It 
was also stated that the lift is inept and rarely works resulting in the family carrying their 
children up the stairs. The proposed adaptions to include a ground floor shower room and 
better placed lift is therefore supported and would positively add the Councils Housing Stock 
whereby there is a shortage of adapted homes for people in need.  
 

5.2.4 In terms of neighbour impacts, the proposed extensions will be sited to the south side of the property 
and in close proximity to neighbour no. 75 Bowland Road. This property benefits from an attached 
side extension and adjoining lean-to shed/store area which extends along the shared side boundary. 
As such, given that the proposed side/rear extension would replace the existing outbuildings and 
would be sited alongside this neighbours’ side/rear development, it is not considered to result in any 
significant impacts by way of overbearing, overshadowing, or overlooking. The proposed first floor 
extension would close the gap between the two properties; however, this is considered to be a small 
extension and would not be particular harmful. The proposed first floor side facing window is also 
noted to be obscurely glazed and therefore would not present any overlooking opportunities.  

Page 40



 

Page 3 of 3 
21/01186/FUL 

 CODE 

 

 

5.2.5 The proposed single storey rear extension would also be visible from adjoining neighbour no. 71 
Bowland Road to the north. However, a distance of approximately 3.8m would remain between the 
extension and shared side boundary and an existing 1.8m high concrete panel fence will help to 
conceal the development within the rear garden. It is therefore not considered that the development 
would result in any undue impacts towards this neighbouring property. 
 

5.2.6 The proposals will allow for a functional sized garden to be retained and would not impact upon the 
current on-street parking arrangements. 
 

5.3  Design (NPPF Section 12 Achieving Sustainable Development, Policy DM29 of the Development 
Management DPD) 
 

5.3.1 
 
 
 
 

The proposed extensions will be finished in spar dash render to match existing and red/brown 
smooth concrete roof tiles to match the existing. This is therefore acceptable as the development will 
harmonise with the style and character of the property. Furthermore, the proposed first floor side 
extension will be sufficiently set back by approximately 2.9m from the front elevation and set down 
by approximately 0.9m from the existing roof ridge. This ensures that the development will remain 
subordinate and would not appear to visually dominate when viewed from within the street scene. 
The proposed new access ramp is considered to be a minor development and would be seen in 
conjunction with the existing.  
 

 
6.0 Conclusion and Planning Balance 

 
6.1 In conclusion, the demolition of existing outbuildings/stores and erection of a part single, part two 

storey rear/side extension and construction of external ramp access are considered acceptable and 
would not raise any significant concerns in terms of impact on residential amenity and design. The 
proposal is therefore considered to comply with Policy DM29 of the Development Management DPD 
and Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework.   

 
Recommendation 
 
That Planning Permission BE GRANTED subject to the following conditions: 
 

Condition no. Description Type 

1 Standard Planning Permission Timescale Control 

2 Development in accordance with approved plans Control 
 

 
Article 35, Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 
 
Lancaster City Council has made the recommendation in a positive and proactive way to foster the delivery 
of sustainable development, working proactively with the applicant to secure development that improves the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. The recommendation has been taken having 
had regard to the impact of development, and in particular to the relevant policies contained in the 
Development Plan, as presented in full in the officer report, and to all relevant material planning 
considerations, including the National Planning Policy Framework, National Planning Practice Guidance and 
relevant Supplementary Planning Documents/ Guidance. 
 
Background Papers 
  
None.  
 
 
 

Page 41



LIST OF DELEGATED PLANNING DECISIONS   

 
 

LANCASTER CITY COUNCIL 
 
 

APPLICATION NO 
 

DETAILS DECISION 
 

21/00636/FUL 
 
 

Dene Cottage, Main Street, Whittington Demolition of garage 
and erection of a dwelling (C3) with associated hardstanding 
and landscaping for Mr & Mrs R & J Skelton (Upper Lune 
Valley Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

21/00853/FUL 
 
 

Blackpool Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, 
Community Health Offices, Slyne Road Change of use of part 
of existing offices (class E) to dwelling (C3) and erection of bin 
store for Healthcare Solutions Ltd (Skerton East Ward 2015 
Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

21/01208/FUL 
 
 

327 Lancaster Road, Morecambe, Lancashire Demolition of 
existing conservatory and erection of a replacement 
conservatory for Thackery (Torrisholme Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00040/FUL 
 
 

Land West Of 110, High Road, Halton Erection of a two storey 
detached office building, installation of electric car charging 
point and electric bike charging points to the front and rear, 
and associated hardstanding for Mr A Wishart (Halton-with-
Aughton Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00073/FUL 
 
 

Green Pastures, Capernwray Road, Capernwray Partially 
retrospective application for retention of an agricultural 
building, installation of timber cladding and render to 
external elevations and retention of hardstanding areas and 
access track for Mr S Wightman (Kellet Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00081/DIS 
 
 

Land At Royal Albert Farm, Pathfinders Drive, Lancaster 
Discharge of condition 7 on approved application 
19/01568/FUL for Oakmere Homes (Scotforth West Ward 
2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00086/DIS 
 
 

Site Of Former Warton Grange Farm, Farleton Close, Warton 
Discharge of condition 14b and condition 19 on approved 
application 15/00847/OUT for Mr Bleasdale (Warton Ward 
2015 Ward) 
 

Split Decision 
 

22/00095/DIS 
 
 

Ashton House Farm, Main Road, Slyne Discharge of condition 
3 on approved application 22/00334/LB for Mrs Catherine 
Fish (Bolton And Slyne Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Split Decision 
 

22/00097/DIS 
 
 

122 Aldcliffe Road, Lancaster, Lancashire Discharge of 
conditions 3, 4 and 5 on appeal reference 
APP/A2335/W/22/3291650 for Mr and Mrs Wellesley Smith 
(Castle Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00100/DIS 
 
 

Land To The Rear Of , 52 Middleton Road, Heysham 
Discharge of condition 3 on approved application 
21/00889/FUL for Mr John McDonagh (Heysham South Ward 
2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

Page 42Agenda Item 8



LIST OF DELEGATED PLANNING DECISIONS   
22/00102/DIS 
 
 

Upper Foxholes Farm, Anyon Lane, Bay Horse Discharge of 
condition 3 on approved application 20/01035/FUL for Mr 
Prest (Ellel Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00105/DIS 
 
 

Bond Gate Farm, Abbeystead Road, Dolphinholme Discharge 
of conditions 5, 6 and 7 on approved application 
19/00435/FUL for Mr Iain Collinson (Ellel Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Split Decision 
 

22/00108/DIS 
 
 

Ward Field Farm, Main Road, Galgate Discharge of condition 
6 on approved application 19/01100/REM for Hollins Homes 
(Ellel Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00209/FUL 
 
 

Craigholme House , 70 Crag Bank Road, Carnforth 
Retrospective application for the retention of raised 
boundary wall to the front and erection of new boundary wall 
to the side for Mr Mark Davy (Carnforth And Millhead Ward 
2015 Ward) 
 

Application Refused 
 

22/00250/FUL 
 
 

Little Wood, Blackwood End Farm, Bay Horse Road Removal 
of caravan and ancillary buildings and erection of a dwelling 
(C3) for Ms Joanne Whitaker (Lower Lune Valley Ward 2015 
Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00413/FUL 
 
 

Brows Farm, Glasson Dock Road, Glasson Dock Retrospective 
application for the erection of a part single part two storey 
rear/side extension, erection of a single storey link extension, 
construction of front porch and reconstruction of existing 
garage for Mr Ben Hodgson (Ellel Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Refused 
 

22/00443/FUL 
 
 

31 West End Road, Morecambe, Lancashire Change of use 
and conversion of house in multiple occupation to form five 
self-contained apartments (C3) and construction of external 
steps to the rear for Mr. Chris Farrell (Harbour Ward 2015 
Ward) 
 

Application Refused 
 

22/00487/FUL 
 
 

5 Derby Street, 11-13, 9, 3-7 Victoria Street And, 16 Graham 
Street, Demolition of existing single storey extension and 
erection of three storey rear extension for Andrew Bryan 
(Poulton Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Withdrawn 
 

22/00523/FUL 
 
 

Cock Hall Farm, Lancaster Road, Cockerham Retrospective 
application for the erection of an agricultural worker dwelling 
and installation of a package treatment plant for Andrew 
Clarkson (Ellel Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Refused 
 

22/00538/VCN 
 
 

Field West Of, Woodlands View, Over Kellet Erection of one 
dwelling (C3) with associated access and regrading of land 
(Pursuant to the variation of condition 2 on planning 
permission 20/00136/FUL to amend plans including single 
garage into a double garage, bedroom 4 into media room on 
lower ground floor and changes to windows and patio area) 
for Mr M Drinkall (Kellet Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00551/FUL 
 
 

Land Adjacent Bowerham Hotel , Bowerham Road, Lancaster 
Erection of single storey building comprising of two retail 
units (Class E) with associated access, parking and loading 
bay, erection of acoustic fence and demolition of existing 
outbuilding for Mr Renwick (Scotforth West Ward 2015 
Ward) 
 

Application Refused 
 

Page 43



LIST OF DELEGATED PLANNING DECISIONS   
22/00561/FUL 
 
 

Lane Head Farmhouse, Hornby Road, Wray Part retrospective 
application for creation of new vehicular access off B6480 
Hornby Road and partial demolition of boundary wall, and 
excavation of land to create a driveway for Mr Mark Watts 
(Lower Lune Valley Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00584/FUL 
 
 

Lune Garth, The Hermitage Estate, Low Road Change of use 
from workshop to 3 bed holiday let, including the erection of 
a first floor extension and single storey extension, erection of 
sunken games room with green roof to provide 
garden/amenity space with balustrade, installation of timber 
cladding, new windows and doors, and juliet balcony to the 
south elevation for Mr. Jerry Huppert (Halton-with-Aughton 
Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Withdrawn 
 

22/00597/FUL 
 
 

67 Yorkshire Street West, Morecambe, Lancashire Change of 
use of existing shop with maisonette above to 2 maisonettes 
comprising of 1 maisonette on the ground floor & first floor 
and 1 maisonette on the first & second floors (C3) for Mr K 
Arulkumaran (Harbour Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00613/FUL 
 
 

Redwell Caravan Park, Kirkby Lonsdale Road, Arkholme 
Change of use of amenity land for the siting of three static 
caravans with associated amenity space and landscaping for 
Mr John McCarthy (Kellet Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00619/FUL 
 
 

Castramont , Westbourne Drive, Lancaster Erection of a 
single storey rear extension and installation of rooflight to 
the rear elevation for Mr and Mrs M Maxwell-Scott (Marsh 
Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00633/FUL 
 
 

4 Toll Bar Crescent, Lancaster, Lancashire Construction of a 
hip to gable extension and construction of dormer extension 
to the rear elevation for Mr & Mrs Coombs (Scotforth West 
Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00634/FUL 
 
 

121 Aldcliffe Road, Lancaster, Lancashire Erection of a single 
storey side and rear extension and balcony above with the 
installation of a glass balustrade to the roof for Mr J Singh 
(Castle Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00637/FUL 
 
 

Land At Grid Reference 358185 471983, Kirkby Lonsdale 
Road, Arkholme Erection of 23 dwellings with associated 
access, internal access road, installation of a package 
treatment plant and diversion of a culvert for Oakmere 
Homes (Northwest) Ltd (Kellet Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Refused 
 

22/00651/FUL 
 
 

Moorside Cottage, New Street, Brookhouse Part 
retrospective application for the retention of a single storey 
outbuilding for use as a holiday let in association with 
Moorside Cottage for Mr Alan King (Lower Lune Valley Ward 
2015 Ward) 
 

Application Withdrawn 
 

22/00656/FUL 
 
 

Visitor Centre, Heysham Power Station, Princess Alexandra 
Way Erection of a bicycle shelter for Mr Paul Farrell (Overton 
Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

Page 44



LIST OF DELEGATED PLANNING DECISIONS   
22/00686/FUL 
 
 

Gibraltar Farmhouse, Lindeth Road, Silverdale Retrospective 
application for the creation of an access track for Mr James 
Burrow (Silverdale Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00707/FUL 
 
 

2 Aysgarth Drive, Lancaster, Lancashire Part retrospective 
application for the erection of a single storey rear extension 
and erection of a replacement front porch, construction of 
two dormer extensions to the front roof slope and two 
dormer extensions and raising of the roof to the rear roof 
slope, demolition of side porch and installation of upper floor 
side facing window for Mr & Mrs D Lesnik (Bolton And Slyne 
Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00720/FUL 
 
 

96 Bare Lane, Morecambe, Lancashire Erection of a single 
storey side extension for Mrs Elwira Robaczewska 
(Torrisholme Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00730/LB 
 
 

Lancaster Central Library, Market Street, Lancaster Listed 
building application for the replacement of pipework in 
connection with replacement boiler for Mrs Lorraine Green - 
Lancashiire County Council (Castle Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00740/FUL 
 
 

Unit 2A And 2B, Freightway, White Lund Industrial Estate 
Installation of new shopfront/entrance doors to south east 
elevation for Mr Simon Knapton (Westgate Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00758/VCN 
 
 

7 Dalton Square, Lancaster, Lancashire Change of use of 
office (E) into aparthotel (C1) comprising of 20 units on part 
of first, second floor and into attic, erection of single storey 
glazed extension to create entrance to North elevation, 
construction of canopy and bin store to South elevation, 
conversion of garages into reception area and ancillary 
facilities to East elevation, retrospective works comprising 
removal of access ramp to front entrance, insertion of 16 
rooflights, insertion of windows facing passageway and 
replacement windows (pursuant to the variation of 
conditions 2 and 3 on planning permission 21/00556/FUL to 
amend the 3 month time limit to an alternative trigger for 
providing information) for Mr Angell (Castle Ward 2015 
Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00763/FUL 
 
 

17 Caton Green Road, Brookhouse, Lancaster Construction of 
decking and an overhead pergola to the rear for Mrs Nadine 
Leslie (Lower Lune Valley Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00768/FUL 
 
 

The Friary , 116 St Leonards Gate, Lancaster Installation of 
replacement windows to Rosemary Lane Elevation and St 
Leonards Gate elevation and removal of render on Rosemary 
Lane elevation wall and reinstatement of stone external wall 
for Mr Bargh (Bulk Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00769/LB 
 
 

The Friary , 116 St Leonards Gate, Lancaster Listed building 
application for the installation of replacement windows to 
Rosemary Street and St Leonard's Gate elevations, repairs to 
ferrous bars and stain glass windows on St Leonard's Gate 
elevations and removal of render on Rosemary Lane 
elevation wall and reinstatement of stone external wall for 
Mr Bargh (Bulk Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

Page 45



LIST OF DELEGATED PLANNING DECISIONS   
22/00774/LB 
 
 

Pear Tree Cottage, Borwick Lane, Borwick Listed building 
application for the enlargement of existing ground floor 
window opening to create a door opening and insertion of a 
first floor window opening to the side/west elevation for Ms 
C. Waine (Kellet Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00785/OUT 
 
 

Land Adjacent , 41 Main Street, Cockerham Outline 
application for the demolition of existing garage and erection 
of one dwelling (C3) for Mr. Harry Parker (Ellel Ward 2015 
Ward) 
 

Application Refused 
 

22/00794/FUL 
 
 

East Lodge , Aldcliffe Road, Lancaster Erection of a two storey 
side extension for Mr M Stainton (Scotforth West Ward 2015 
Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00795/LB 
 
 

East Lodge , Aldcliffe Road, Lancaster Listed building 
application for internal refurbishment, addition of lime 
plaster to internal walls and erection of a two storey side 
extension for Mr M Stainton (Scotforth West Ward 2015 
Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00797/LB 
 
 

Ghyll Bank, Aughton Brow, Aughton Listed building 
application for works to internal walls, installation of stud 
walls, insulation to floors/ceilings, new ensuite bathroom, 
removal of stud wall and modern boxing to expose chimney 
stack, removal of fireplace, installation of replacement 
windows and door, replacement staircase, and installation of 
new combi oil central heating system for Mrs Bronwen Coe 
(Halton-with-Aughton Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00801/VCN 
 
 

Land Adjacent Hill Top Farm, Kirkby Lonsdale Road, Over 
Kellet Erection of a two-storey detached dwelling house (C3) 
(pursuant to the variation of conditions 2, 4 ,5, 6, 11,12 and 
13 on planning permission 21/00105/FUL to alter the 
footprint, design and floor plans of the approved dwelling 
and submission of details related to trees, drainage, 
landscaping, palisade structures and electric vehicle charging 
point) for Mr And Mrs Unsworth (Kellet Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00802/FUL 
 
 

Newland Home Farm, Starbank, Bay Horse Demolition of 
existing dwelling (C3) and garage, erection of a new detached 
dwelling (C3) incorporating balcony and raised terrace and 
installation of drainage infrastructure for Mrs Catherine 
Halhead (Ellel Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00803/ADV 
 
 

Wyreside Lodge, Chipping Lane, Dolphinholme 
Advertisement application for the retention of two flag poles 
for Wyreside Hall Ltd (Ellel Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Refused 
 

22/00809/FUL 
 
 

University Hospitals Of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation 
Trust, Royal Lancaster Infirmary, Ashton Road Installation of 2 
water tanks and a booster for University Hospitals Of 
Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust (Scotforth West Ward 
2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00814/FUL 
 
 

KFC, 110 Penny Street, Lancaster Installation of replacement 
timber shop front windows with powder coated aluminium 
windows for Kishan Patel (Castle Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

Page 46



LIST OF DELEGATED PLANNING DECISIONS   
22/00815/FUL 
 
 

Ellel Hall, Ellel Hall Gardens, Galgate Erection of an 
agricultural storage building, associated hardstanding and 
access track for Mr & Mrs Smith & Hewitt-Smith (Ellel Ward 
2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00834/FUL 
 
 

2 Edward Street, Morecambe, Lancashire Installation of 
replacement windows to the front and side elevations for 
Miss R. Wilson (Poulton Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00836/FUL 
 
 

1 Greythwaite Court, Lancaster, Lancashire Erection of single 
storey side extension for Mr. & Mrs D. Fuller (Marsh Ward 
2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00845/ELDC 
 
 

65 Coulston Road, Lancaster, Lancashire Existing lawful 
development certificate for use as house in multiple 
occupation (C4) for Wakmoor Assets Ltd (John O'Gaunt Ward 
2015 Ward) 
 

Lawful Development 
Certificate Granted 

 

22/00854/FUL 
 
 

Truckhaven Services, Scotland Road, Carnforth Installation of 
8 electric vehicle charging stations within existing car park 
with associated equipment for Miss Rachael Kendrew 
(Warton Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00855/FUL 
 
 

12 St Johns Grove, Heysham, Morecambe Construction of a 
balcony and external steps to the rear for Mrs. B. Catton 
(Heysham North Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Refused 
 

22/00856/FUL 
 
 

2 Croft View, Main Street, Whittington Erection of a single 
storey rear extension for Mr G Bennion (Upper Lune Valley 
Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00861/FUL 
 
 

42 Borwick Lane, Warton, Carnforth Erection of an 
outbuilding to form ancillary accommodation and the siting 
of a hot tub in association with the main dwelling and the 
two holiday apartments at 42 Borwick lane for Mr and Mrs 
Garry Brown (Warton Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00866/PAC 
 
 

Rear Of, 29 Market Street, Carnforth Prior approval for 
change of use of 1st and 2nd floors from dental practice (E) 
to one 2-bed flat (C3) for Gopi Shan (Carnforth And Millhead 
Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Prior Approval Granted 
 

22/00871/VCN 
 
 

Land Adjacent To The Willows, Moor Close Lane, Over Kellet 
Erection of a two storey detached dwelling (C3) incorporating 
balconies with associated access and installation of a package 
treatment plant (pursuant to the variation of condition 2 on 
planning permission 20/01192/VCN to allow alterations to 
the approved plans) for Mr George Whiley (Kellet Ward 2015 
Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

Page 47



LIST OF DELEGATED PLANNING DECISIONS   
22/00872/VCN 
 
 

Hill Top Farm, Hill Lane, Nether Kellet Relevant demolition of 
agricultural buildings, change of use and conversion of two 
agricultural barns to form four dwellinghouses (C3), erection 
of extension and external stairs, erection of one detached 
dwellinghouse (C3), excavation of land levels, erection of 
retaining walls and formation of new access, passing place, 
erection of a car port with storage, creation of car parking, 
creation courtyard and associated landscaping and 
installation of drainage infrastructure (pursuant to the 
variation of condition 2 on planning permission 
21/00850/FUL to amend the elevations of the stone barn 
(unit 4) and new building (unit 5)) for Mrs M Cornthwaite 
(Kellet Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00875/FUL 
 
 

Slyne With Hest Football Club, Bottomdale Road, Slyne 
Erection of a single storey extension to the front, side and 
rear of existing changing rooms to form a clubhouse and 
retention of storage container for Slyne Football Club (Bolton 
And Slyne Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Refused 
 

22/00881/FUL 
 
 

18 Harrowdale Park, Halton, Lancaster Demolition of existing 
single storey rear extension and erection of 2 rear extensions, 
construction of a hip to gable extension, installation of raised 
roof, construction of a dormer extensions to the front and 
rear, installation of first floor window to the north west (side) 
elevation and alterations to existing external materials for Mr 
Owen Croskell And Miss Tracy Garside (Halton-with-Aughton 
Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00884/FUL 
 
 

16 Conder Green Road, Galgate, Lancaster Construction of a 
dormer extension to the front elevation for Alan Foster (Ellel 
Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00893/FUL 
 
 

Blackwood End, Bay Horse Road, Ellel Erection of an 
extension to existing agricultural building for Mr John Fox 
(Lower Lune Valley Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00895/FUL 
 
 

4 Cowdrey Mews, Lancaster, Lancashire Erection of a two 
storey front extension and a front porch extension for Mr 
Peregrine (Marsh Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00910/FUL 
 
 

Langdale, Starbank, Dolphinholme Erection of a two storey 
rear extension for Mr & Mrs Pye (Ellel Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00912/FUL 
 
 

8 Rectory Gardens, Cockerham, Lancaster Erection of a single 
storey side extension, construction of dormer extensions to 
the front and rear elevations, installation of enlarged window 
to the rear elevation and rooflights for Mr Jamie Hazby (Ellel 
Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00914/FUL 
 
 

6 Hunters Gate, Lancaster, Lancashire Erection of a single 
storey rear extension and a front porch for Mr & Mrs Smith 
(Scotforth West Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00922/FUL 
 
 

10 Saxon Heights, Heysham, Morecambe Erection of a single 
storey front extension for Mr Stephen Kilifin (Heysham South 
Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

Page 48



LIST OF DELEGATED PLANNING DECISIONS   
22/00927/FUL 
 
 

24 Knowlys Road, Heysham, Morecambe Erection of a single 
storey rear extension and construction of a dormer extension 
to the rear elevation for Ms L Merry (Heysham Central Ward 
2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00928/FUL 
 
 

Pear Tree House, Main Road, Galgate Erection of a part single 
storey and part two storey rear extension for Mr. J. Wiener 
(Ellel Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Refused 
 

22/00932/FUL 
 
 

Footpath Adjacent, St Nicholas Arcade, Church Street 
Removal of existing phone box and installation of 
freestanding 'Street Hub' unit for Mr James Browne (Castle 
Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Refused 
 

22/00933/ADV 
 
 

Footpath Adjacent, St Nicholas Arcade, Church Street 
Advertisement application for the display of two digital 75 
inch LCD display screens on freestanding 'Street Hub' unit for 
Mr James Browne (Castle Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Refused 
 

22/00934/FUL 
 
 

Footpath Outside, 32 - 34 Penny Street, Lancaster Removal of 
existing phone box and installation of freestanding 'Street 
Hub' unit for Mr James Browne (Castle Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Refused 
 

22/00935/ADV 
 
 

Footpath Outside, 32 - 34 Penny Street, Lancaster 
Advertisement application for the display of two digital 75 
inch LCD display screens on freestanding 'Street Hub' unit for 
Mr James Browne (Castle Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Refused 
 

22/00936/FUL 
 
 

Inglenook , Aldcliffe Road, Lancaster Erection of a single 
storey rear extension, erection of a front porch and 
installation of solar panels to the front elevation for Mr David 
Fatkin (Scotforth West Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00937/FUL 
 
 

The Rectory, Main Street, Heysham Installation of balustrade 
for Mr Michael Kellett (Heysham Central Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00955/FUL 
 
 

Morecambe Cricket Club , Woodhill Lane, Morecambe 
Construction of an enclosed two lane cricket practice net for 
Mr Damian Gudgeon (Harbour Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00957/FUL 
 
 

21 Church Grove, Overton, Morecambe Erection of detached 
dwellinghouse (C3) for Mr & Mrs Betts (Overton Ward 2015 
Ward) 
 

Application Withdrawn 
 

22/00960/FUL 
 
 

3 Rosegarth, Slyne, Lancaster Erection of a single storey rear 
extension, construction of a hip to gable roof extension, and 
a raised patio with steps for Janet and Bruce Alexander 
(Bolton And Slyne Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00966/PLDC 
 
 

119 Aldcliffe Road, Lancaster, Lancashire Proposed lawful 
development certificate for installation of solar panels to 
front and rear roof for Mr Mark Goodwin (Castle Ward 2015 
Ward) 
 

Lawful Development 
Certificate Granted 

 

22/00976/PAM 
 
 

Footpath Adjacent, Marine Road East, Morecambe Prior 
approval for the installation of 20m Phase 7 Monopole, 
ground-based equipment cabinets and associated ancillary 
development for MBNL (Bare Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Prior Approval Granted 
 

Page 49



LIST OF DELEGATED PLANNING DECISIONS   
22/00978/FUL 
 
 

Old Lune Barn, Melling Road, Melling Retrospective 
application for change of use of agricultural land to 
residential land in association with Old Lune Barn and 
retention of access and boundary fencing for Mrs S Otley 
(Upper Lune Valley Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00981/FUL 
 
 

Grange Court, Hasty Brow Road, Slyne Erection of a part two 
storey, part first floor extension over existing garage to form 
ancillary living accommodation in association with Grange 
Court for Mr M McCarthy (Bolton And Slyne Ward 2015 
Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00982/FUL 
 
 

3 Ingleborough View, Station Road, Hornby Erection of a 
single storey side and rear extension for Mr.& Mrs M. 
Harrison (Upper Lune Valley Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00983/VCN 
 
 

Land East Of 61 Stankelt Road, Silverdale, Carnforth 
Demolition of existing garage and erection of a detached 
dwelling (C3) with associated driveway and landscaping, 
erection of a garden shed, and installation of drainage 
infrastructure (pursuant to the variation of condition 2 on 
planning permission 22/00379/VCN to amend the design of 
garden shed) for Mr Ripley (Silverdale Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00988/AD 
 
 

Richmond Hall Farm, Lancaster Road, Cockerham Agricultural 
determination for the construction of a concrete pad for Mrs 
Victoria Walmsley (Ellel Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Prior Approval Not Required 
 

22/00989/PAH 
 
 

19 Connaught Road, Lancaster, Lancashire Erection of a 4.57 
metre deep, single storey rear extension with a maximum 
roof height of 3.57 metres and a maximum eaves heights of 
2.52 metres for Mr Stephen Blackwell (John O'Gaunt Ward 
2015 Ward) 
 

Prior Approval Not Required 
 

22/00993/CU 
 
 

16 Ashmeadow Road, Nether Kellet, Carnforth Retrospective 
change of use of dwellinghouse (C3) to a residential care 
home for children (C2) for Mr James Jose (Kellet Ward 2015 
Ward) 
 

Application Refused 
 

22/00996/FUL 
 
 

13 Barley Cop Lane, Lancaster, Lancashire Erection of a two 
storey side extension for Mr M. Squires (Skerton East Ward 
2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/00997/PLDC 
 
 

Greencroft, Borwick Road, Arkholme Proposed lawful 
development certificate for erection of detached outbuilding 
and excavation work for the creation of swimming pool, 
erection of associated pump house and construction of a wall 
for Mr J. Nicholson (Kellet Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Lawful Development 
Certificate Granted 

 

22/01007/PLDC 
 
 

9 Rochester Avenue, Morecambe, Lancashire Proposed lawful 
development certificate for installation of two rooflights to 
the front, one rooflight to the rear, one side facing upper 
floor window and internal alterations for Mr L. Stainsby 
(Westgate Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Lawful Development 
Certificate Granted 

 

22/01010/PLDC 
 
 

49 Hall Drive, Caton, Lancaster Proposed lawful development 
certificate for the erection of single storey rear extension for 
Mr Daniel Tyrer (Lower Lune Valley Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Lawful Development 
Certificate Granted 

 

Page 50



LIST OF DELEGATED PLANNING DECISIONS   
22/01011/PLDC 
 
 

27 New Street, Carnforth, Lancashire Installation of 
replacement window to the front elevation and removal of 
chimney for Mr Aimal Majidi (Carnforth And Millhead Ward 
2015 Ward) 
 

Lawful Development 
Certificate Granted 

 

22/01012/LB 
 
 

Cawood House, Main Street, Arkholme Listed building 
consent for the installation of a replacement roof and 
rooflight to the north elevation for Mr And Mrs Steven Clode 
(Kellet Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/01014/EIR 
 
 

Croziers Croft, Moss Lane, Silverdale Screening request for 
the retrospective creation of a vehicular driveway and 
erection of associated fencing for Mr Kenneth Gregory 
(Silverdale Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

ES Not Required 
 

22/01020/FUL 
 
 

Purbeck House, Farleton Old Road, Farleton Conversion of 
attached garage to habitable room, removal of garage door 
and installation of replacement window, removal of first floor 
window and installation of door to the front elevation, 
removal of existing porch roof and construction of 
replacement lean-to roof with balcony above for Mr & Mrs 
Iian Lightfoot (Upper Lune Valley Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/01028/PA56 
 
 

River Keer Railway Bridge, Scotland Road, Carnforth Prior 
approval application for proposed works to the River Keer 
railway bridge for Network Rail (Carnforth And Millhead 
Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Prior Approval Granted 
 

22/01031/AD 
 
 

Helks Farm, Main Road, Over Kellet Agricultural 
determination for the erection of a building to cover manure 
storage area for Mr John Mason (Kellet Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Prior Approval Not Required 
 

22/01033/EIR 
 
 

Blackwood End, Bay Horse Road, Ellel Screening opinion for 
the erection of an extension to existing agricultural building 
for Mr John Fox (Lower Lune Valley Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

ES Not Required 
 

22/01038/FUL 
 
 

Totally Wicked, Ground Floor, 6 New Street Installation of a 
retractable security grille to front elevation for Mr Darryl 
Dooley (Castle Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Refused 
 

22/01039/LB 
 
 

Totally Wicked, Ground Floor, 6 New Street Listed building 
application for the installation of a retractable security grille 
to front elevation for Mr Darryl Dooley (Castle Ward 2015 
Ward) 
 

Application Refused 
 

22/01044/PLDC 
 
 

56 Manor Road, Slyne, Lancaster Proposed Lawful 
Development Certificate for the construction of a dormer 
extension to the rear elevation and installation of a roof light 
to the front elevation for Mr & Mrs D Wright (Bolton And 
Slyne Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Lawful Development 
Certificate Granted 

 

Page 51



LIST OF DELEGATED PLANNING DECISIONS   
22/01047/EIR 
 
 

Hillside Farm, Lancaster Road, Heaton With Oxcliffe Screening 
request for the erection of 100MW energy storage facility 
including 50 energy storage battery units within steel 
shipping containers, and ancillary development including 
substation, transformers, transformer compound, 
underground cabling, inverters, switchgear, control/switch 
room, office/site store building, creation of hardstanding, 
erection of security fencing and access gates and erection of 
7 CCTV masts with associated balancing pond, landscaping, 
access track and parking for Ms Donna Cooper (Overton 
Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

ES Not Required 
 

22/01048/EIR 
 
 

Fuel Proof Limited, Middleton Business Park, Middleton Road 
Screening opinion for the erection of an industrial unit for 
Fuel Proof Ltd (Overton Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

ES Not Required 
 

22/01053/FUL 
 
 

170 Brookhouse Road, Brookhouse, Lancaster Demolition of 
garage and erection of replacement garage with canopy for 
Mr J Procter (Lower Lune Valley Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/01055/EIR 
 
 

Wennington Hall School, Lodge Lane, Wennington Screening 
opinion for the change of use from school (C2) to hotel (C1) 
for Mr James Warburton (Upper Lune Valley Ward 2015 
Ward) 
 

ES Not Required 
 

22/01062/PAC 
 
 

8 The Green, Over Kellet, Carnforth Prior approval for the 
change of use of Shop (E) to Dwelling (C3) for Mr And Mrs C R 
And T A Burns (Kellet Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Withdrawn 
 

22/01067/FUL 
 
 

52 Oxcliffe Road, Heysham, Morecambe Construction of a 
pitched roof to existing front porch, removal of bay window, 
installation of new windows/doors to the front elevation and 
new window to the side elevation for Mr Daniel O'Connor 
(Heysham Central Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/01068/NMA 
 
 

7 Slyne Road, Morecambe, Lancashire Non-material 
amendment to approved application 20/00867/FUL to raise 
the eaves on the dining/kitchen room extension for Mr Stuart 
Clarke (Torrisholme Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/01080/RCN 
 
 

35A Lindeth Road, Silverdale, Carnforth Revised proposal for 
detached dwelling - siting and new garage (pursuant to the 
removal of condition 5 & 6 on planning permission 
94/00671/FUL to allow permitted development) for Mr & 
Mrs Bargh (Silverdale Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

22/01103/EIR 
 
 

Sandbeds Farm, Sandbeds Lane, Gressingham Screening 
opinion for the erection of a cattle building and creation of an 
underground slurry tank for MR MARK CONDER (Upper Lune 
Valley Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

ES Not Required 
 

22/01116/NMA 
 
 

Land North Of Hala Carr Farm, Bowerham Road, Lancaster 
Non material amendment to planning permission 
19/01158/FUL to amend the external wall materials of plot 
18 for Oakmere Homes (University And Scotforth Rural Ward) 
 

Application Permitted 
 

Page 52



LIST OF DELEGATED PLANNING DECISIONS   
22/01140/PLDC 
 
 

7 Burlington Grove, Morecambe, Lancashire Proposed lawful 
development certificate for construction of a hip to gable 
extension and construction of a dormer extension to the rear 
elevation for Mr.&Mrs C. Howarth (Bare Ward 2015 Ward) 
 

Lawful Development 
Certificate Granted 

 

22/01160/PLDC 
 
 

6 Knowe Hill Crescent, Lancaster, Lancashire Proposed lawful 
development certificate for the erection of a single storey 
rear extension for Mr & Mrs Macari (Scotforth East Ward 
2015 Ward) 
 

Lawful Development 
Certificate Granted 

 

 

Page 53


	Agenda
	5 Land At Grid Reference E347900 N455890, Highland Brow, Galgate, Lancashire
	6 Car Park, Victoria Terrace, Glasson Dock, Lancashire
	7 73 Bowland Road, Heysham, LA3 2EW
	8 Delegated List

